

Improving schools through data-based decision making: an assessment of data use in primary schools in Ethiopia



SUPERVISORS Dr. Kim Schildkamp Dr. Cindy L. Poortman

> Thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science (MSc) in Educational Science and Technology University of Twente, The Netherlands. August 2015

UNIVERSITY OF TWENTE.

Table of Contents

	Contents	
List of tal	bles and figures	iii
Summary	Ι	iv
Acknowle	edgement	v
CHAPTE	R ONE	1
1. Data	a-based decision making in education	1
1.1.	Introduction	
1.2.	The research problem	2
CHAPTE	ER TWO	4
2. The	theoretical framework	4
2.1. TI	he concept of data and data use in education	4
	Data use in schools	
2.2.	1. Data use for accountability	7
2.2.2	2. Data use for school development	7
2.2.1		
2.3.	*	
2.3.	1. Data and data systems characteristics	8
2.3.	•	
2.3.		
CHAPTE	ER THREE	
	hodology	
3.1.	Research design	
3.2.	Research context	
3.3.	Sampling and sampling techniques	
3.4.	Instruments	
3.4.		
	 Survey questionnaire	
3.4.	•	
	Procedures	
3.6.	Reliability and validity	
3.7.	Data analysis	
3.8.	Ethical considerations	
	ER FOUR	
	ults	
4.1.	Type of data available in primary schools	
4.2.	The purpose of using data in primary schools	
4.2.		
4.2.		
4.2.		
4.3.	Factors affecting data use in primary schools	
4.3.		. 32
	forming schools	22
4.3.	6	
sche		
		1 .
4.3.)01S
	37 ED EIV/E	20
	ER FIVE	
	cussion and conclusions	
5.1.	Kinds of educational data in Ethiopian primary schools	
5.2.	The purpose of using data in primary schools	
5.3.	Factors affecting data use in primary schools	
5.4.	Unintended uses of data in primary schools	.43

5.5. Conclusion	.43
5.6. Recommendations and implications	.44
REFERENCES	.46
APPENDICES	.50

List of tables and figures

Summary

Data has received increasingly wider attention due to increasing emphasis to standard based accountability systems and research results implicating improved student outcomes. Hence, insight into how data are used in schools, its enablers and barriers, becomes crucial. Several studies have been conducted, most of which are describing data use in the developed part of the world (Europe, North America, Australia and New Zealand). Given the dearth of scientific studies and distinctiveness of data use in specific educational policy contexts, it is imperative to study data use in a developing country context, in this case Ethiopia. Moreover, the categorization of schools into different levels of performance, ranging from Level I to Level IV, on the bases of a mandated school improvement program was an additional impetus for the rationale. Based on a conceptual framework that captures types of data, data use purposes, and promoting and hindering factors, the study aimed to investigate how schools use data in the context of school improvement. Particularly the study aimed to assess commonly available and used data and examine for what purpose data were used. Further, the study sought to identify enabling and hindering factors and describe how they affect data use in schools.

The study employed an exploratory mixed methods research design where it blends quantitative and qualitative research methods. Data were collected from a cluster random sample of eight schools selected based on their ranking in the annual schools' inspection report which also includes the schools' self-evaluation assessment. As a result, four high performing and another four low performing schools representing each of the school levels were selected. Evidence for the study comes from the school data inventory (N=8 schools), a teachers' survey (N=235), and semi-structured interviews with principals (N=4, including assistant principals), PD facilitators (N=4), and teachers (N=4). Moreover, school documents, such as school development plans were mainly used for triangulation purposes. Concerning data analysis, descriptive statistics and One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) were calculated to determine the level of data use; and multiple regression analysis to determine the extent to which data characteristics, user characteristics and school organizational characteristics influence data use for accountability, school development and instructional improvement purposes. To provide an in-depth phenomenon of data use, thematic analysis was included on the purposes of and factors influencing data use.

The findings indicate that both high and low performing schools had a wide range of input, process, context, and output data available. Certain kinds of data (e.g. socio-economic status) were only found in some high performing schools. High performing schools displayed slight variation in terms of the extent of data availability or pattern of disaggregation. Wider availability of data however does not seem to necessarily ensure its actual use as respondents recurrently mentioned only few kinds of data in their interview responses. Of which, most of the data were process data followed by output data. Regarding the purpose of data use, schools use data for accountability, school development and instructional improvement. High performing schools scored higher in all three scales than low performing schools, but it was not statistically significant. This means that although these schools are categorized differently in relation to their performance by the Ministry's standards, there is no relation with their extent of data use. The qualitative data however showed mixed results where high and low performing schools displayed similarities on certain aspects of data use while they differ on other aspects of data use. The difference was more observed within high performing schools than low performing schools which were more or less similar. Concerning the factors, data use for accountability is influenced by school organizational factors. The use of data for school development is influenced by data characteristics, user characteristics and school organizational characteristics. Also, the use of data for instructional improvement is influenced by data characteristics and school organizational characteristics. School organizational characteristics seem to influence all three types of data use, suggesting the importance of the factor. As data use involves a complex network of interpretive social processes, it is sensible to assume that these factors interrelate with one another. Examples of abuse of data were identified when teachers inflate student achievement scores and schools copy school development plans from another school due to high accountability pressure and lack of support.

Finally, for policy and practice, the study recommends strengthening existing professional development and making it more structured and systematic. Effective leadership in terms of the roles played by a school principal in the context of school improvement can also motivate teachers to engage in data use. Moreover, the findings imply effectiveness of the pre-service teacher education in preparing teachers and school leaders on competencies of data use for school improvement. A more observational and intervention based study on data use that involves different stakeholders is recommended for future research.

Key words: *data use, accountability, school development, instructional improvement, facilitating and hindering factors, Ethiopia.*

Acknowledgement

I would like to express my profound gratitude to those personalities and institutions that helped me in the course of my study. Without their support and encouragement, completing this work would have been impossible. Therefore, I would like to take this opportunity to thank some of them.

First, to my supervisors Dr. Kim Schildkamp and Dr. Cindy Poortman for their guidance and critical comments throughout the thesis. I would also like to thank all the lecturers at the department of Educational Science and Technology (M-EST) for their support and inspiration.

My special thanks go to the University of Twente Scholarship (UTS) for the financial support that enabled me to study at the University of Twente. I also thank the International Office team for processing my study application and residence procedures. My study counselor Mrs. Yvonne Luytende Thouars; Programme coordinator Mr. Jan Nelissen; and International Student Services Mrs. Monique Davids for their study assistance during my study period.

I am grateful for Mr. Yoseph, Mr. Wasihun, and Mr. Mulualem for sending me relevant policy documents for my study. For my friends Haftu Hindeya and Ikhsan Abdusyakur for their academic discussions during my thesis writing.

Finally, my special thanks go to my family, especially to my loving wife Toyiba and our children Adnan and Sabrina.

CHAPTER ONE

1. Data-based decision making in education

1.1. Introduction

Data-based decision making and the quest for using evidence in educational decision making is nothing new because achievement tests have been administered for years (Shen & Cooley, 2008). Effective teachers and principals have been using data in some way to make decisions though the process was not systematic and automated. For example, teachers often ask questions, make observations, examine students' work products, and scan signs of understanding or misconceptions of students during and at the end of every classroom lesson (Mandinach, 2012). Then, they process the information in their heads to determine how well students are progressing with reference to learning goals, examine the content and structure of the instructional process, propose solutions to modify the instruction and meet student learning needs.

While data and the hoped-for data use are out there for a relatively long period of time, why is it so important to renew its significance at this moment? Two reasons recurrently appear in the literature as the main drivers of data use in education: accountability measures and the movement of school improvement (Anderson, Leithwood, & Strauss, 2010). Given the variations in the interpretation and emphasis of accountability measures across educational systems, schools are increasingly held accountable for student learning and achievement assuming that expectations for students will increase, teaching will improve and learning gains increase (Darling-Hammond & Rustique-Forrester, 2005). This perspective assumes that high stake-accountability measures (e.g. standardized achievement tests) will motivate students to be engaged much more in the learning process. The accountability system is also intensified by the decentralization of educational management that swept across educational systems and global mandates such as the Education for All movement.

A related but sometimes competing priority that make data use crucial is the school improvement process (Little, 2012;Young, 2006). Data use can lead to school improvement in terms of increased student achievement primarily when it can influence teaching in a meaningful manner (Carlson, Borman, & Robinson, 2011;Lai, McNaughton, Timperley, & Hsiao, 2009;McNaughton, Lai, & Hsiao, 2012). In this view, increased student achievement is primarily a product of better teaching. Darling-Hammond & Rustique-Forrester (2005) identified at least four rationales of data use in the current educational accountability and school improvement landscape originating from curriculum, management, pedagogical and organizational, and equity perspectives.

First, from a curriculum perspective, data can substantially influence curriculum and instruction especially when it is used for decision making purposes. There is research evidence showing that data (e.g. assessment and classroom observation data) can influence teachers' instructional planning and classroom practices (e.g. Lai, McNaughton, Timperley, et al., 2009; McNaughton et al., 2012). If data use changes teachers' classroom practices, presumably it could lead to consistent and significant student learning gains.

Second, from a management perspective, the need to establish control over teaching for the purpose of curricular coherence, standardization, accountability for content coverage, and achieving intended results increased the prominence of using data. According to some studies (e.g. Heritage & Yeagley, 2005; Wiliam, 2010), the management of assessment data will facilitate alignment between standards and instruction, and promotes professional development in the school. In addition, school-based performance assessments when evaluated by teachers themselves and used to improve teaching are good management tools for instructional improvement.

The third rationale is both pedagogical and organizational in origin, and focuses on the need for valid and reliable information about student learning to make decisions on what teaching should look like and the school improvement process (Darling-Hammond & Rustique-Forrester, 2005). This perspective aspires to make assessment an integral part of the instruction for teachers, and based on data these teachers will be able to identify what students already know, what and how they need to learn, and determine how best they can help them.

Finally, from an educational equity perspective, data can be a powerful instrument to monitor access and equality of educational opportunities across the different segments of student population explained by student composition including prior achievement, student level background characteristics, and compositional characteristics of student population (Diamond & Spillane, 2004; Schildkamp, Rekers-Mombarg, et al., 2012;Timmermans et al., 2011).

1.2. The research problem

Data use continues to gain more attention in recent years. Schools are increasingly held accountable for the education they provide, to improve student outcomes and produce evidence showing effectiveness of investment aimed to change instruction, assessment and professional development (Huffman & Kalnin, 2003; Timperley & Phillips, 2003). Also, research results implicating data use for sustainable school improvement brought the power of data for the discourse (Carlson, Borman, & Robinson, 2011; McNaughton, Lai, & Hsiao, 2012; Schildkamp, Ehren, & Lai, 2012). Shaped by organizational and policy environment, the trending emphasis on accountability system and the school improvement process (Anderson et al., 2010) redefined as to why data use is gaining center stage in educational discussion and discourse.

For the last few decades the Ethiopian education system witnessed massive structural and curriculum changes aimed to address issues of educational access, equity, quality and relevance (Semela, 2014). Several national and global mandates contributed enormously towards the making of reforms on the structure of the education system, organization of the classroom, teacher education preparation, and assessment and is marked by the introduction of the new Education and Training Policy in 1994 (MoE, 1994). The education policy states that the purpose of primary education is to offer quality education and prepare students for further general education and training (MoE, 1994). To translate the policy statements into practical actions, a series of five year Education Sector Development Programs (ESDPs) were launched with the main thrust of expanding educational access, ensuring equity, and improving its quality and relevance. Moreover, it aimed to achieve the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) and meet the objectives of a national development plan through a qualified trained work force (MoFED, 2006). Accordingly, the number of student enrolment in primary schooling has grown from three million in 1990s to 17 million (MoE, 2013a). During this period, the rate of enrolment raised from one of the lowest in sub-Saharan Africa to enrolling 85% of children who reached school age. The disparity between the genders, rural-urban classifications, and other disadvantage groups has also improved (MoE, 2013a).

The rapid expansion of the education system however is accompanied by a serious concern of educational quality (Ahmed & Mihiretie, 2015;Serbessa, 2006) as evidenced by low and declining student achievement, low efficiency and input indicators. For example, the Early Grade Reading Assessment (EGRA) on children's reading skills found that while children attend schooling for three years of primary education, a significant percentage of them remained illiterate (Piper, 2010). The National Learning Assessment (NLA) results at grades 4 and 8 (MoE, 2013b) also showed that students scored below 50% across all the four assessment measures, and there was a significant drop in 2013 from the baseline assessment in 2000. Further, high dropout and repetition rates decrease the number of students who continue from the first cycle of primary education (Grades 1 to 4, ages 7 to 10) into the second cycle (Grades 1 to 4, ages 11 to 14) (MoE, 2013a). The gross enrollment and net enrollment rates for grades 5 to 8are 62.9% and 47.3% respectively.

The Ethiopian government pursued policies of decentralization, contextualized planning, school grant, community participation, teachers and principals' professional development and production of textbooks (MoE, 2008b; 2010) to mitigate the declining quality of education. One of such policies is the School Improvement Program (SIP). The SIP is a decentralized approach to school reform nested in the educational policy and accountability structure(Mitchell, 2014), and aims to improve student outcome through "the process of enhancing the way the school organizes, promotes and supports learning" (MacBeath & Mortimore, 2001:p.37, in Mitchell, 2014). As part of the reform, schools are introduced with self-evaluation, development planning and professional development tools (MoE, 2008b)to review their internal conditions, identify priorities areas and set targets most in need of improvement following a structured procedure of analysis, planning, implementation and evaluation (MoE, 2009). Using a self-evaluation framework that covers four major domains - teaching and learning, leadership and management, student environment, and community participation (MoE, 2008b), schools determine focus areas and set standards of performance. Indicators of practice are provided for them to evaluate performances against each standard. Furthermore, in addition to an external inspection, schools are encouraged to produce evidence that supports their assessment of how well they are meeting each performance standard.

Whereas SIP repositions the school as a self-managing unit which continuously build its internal capacities for sustainable improvement (Mitchell, 2014), the Ministry of Education holds schools accountable for student learning and achievement by classifying them into different levels (MoE, 2013c). The classification is based on the School Effectiveness research tradition which makes use of the input-process-output models (UNESCO, 2002), where the rationale is to identify "characteristics of effectiveness" (Sammons, Hillman, & Mortimore, 1995) that can be used by schools for their improvement efforts. Increasing globalization and commitment to fulfill global mandates, such as the Education for All (UNESCO, 2000), and the overall shift from concern with inputs to a concern with outcomes (Greaney & Kellaghan, 2008) are additional impetus to ensure the accountability of schools. Accordingly, schools are classified into four levels, where Level I schools are failing or ineffective schools; Level II schools are low achieving but struggling schools; Level III schools are moderate and improving schools; and Level IV schools are good or effective schools (MoE, 2013c). Given the systematic and problem solving nature of school improvement process to support decision making (Cousins, Goh, & Clark, 2006), the classification is presumed to relate to the practice of data use in schools. Hence level I and II schools are low performing schools and might be low data use schools whereas level III and IV are high performing schools, and could represent high data use schools.

On the whole, as schools are struggling to transform themselves into more effective learning environments, data use has become an important tool for changing how they are planning, executing, monitoring and evaluating activities with the purpose to improve teaching and learning (Brunner et al., 2005;Darling-Hammond & Rustique-Forrester, 2005; Datnow, Park, & Kennedy-Lewis, 2012;Kerr, Marsh, Ikemoto, Darilek, & Barney, 2006). Data use can lead to improvement when schools find a balance between their competing responsibilities of complying with accountability measures and improvement efforts, particularly in educational systems struck by massive educational change and restructuring with a lot of accountability and global mandates. Moreover, as the vast majority of available studies on data use are in the developed world (Europe, North America, New Zealand, and Australia), and data use can be distinct in different educational systems due to the data, user, and school organizational characteristics as well as the moderating role of policy context, it is imperative to investigate the practice of data use and how it contributes to the primary purpose of schools, improve student outcome, in a developing country context, in this case Ethiopia. Against the background of the contextual realities and the problem statement discussed above, the present study aims to answer the following key research questions:

- 1. What kinds of data are commonly used in primary schools in Ethiopia?
- 2. What is the purpose of data use in primary schools in Ethiopia?
- 3. To what extent do data, user, and school organizational characteristics influence data use in primary schools in Ethiopia?

CHAPTER TWO

2. The theoretical framework

2.1. The concept of data and data use in education

In the last few decades, data and data use in education has been the focus of considerable research largely because of the accountability system placed on schools. The accountability system mandated schools to collect, aggregate, and upwardly reporting of data pertaining to student learning (Wayman, 2005). The assumption is that accountability policies that produce a lot of data at the school level would initiate data use to change teaching practice. However, several studies have documented compelling evidence that mere availability of data in any form does not guarantee its usage and system improvement (Ingram et al., 2004; Schildkamp & Kuiper, 2010). Schools make decisions based on a range of sources such as data on student assessment scores, limited classroom observations (Carlson et al., 2011) or based on intuitions and 'teacher experiences' (Schildkamp & Kuiper, 2010;Timperley & Phillips, 2003). It is no longer acceptable to use untested taken-for-granted assumptions as a basis for decision making.

The use of data as a means for school improvement was documented in various studies that use causal designs to examine the effectiveness of data use interventions (e.g., Lai, McNaughton, Timperley, & Hsiao, 2009; McNaughton, Lai, & Hsiao, 2012), case studies of schools that have made data-use a priority (e.g., Little, 2012), and even observations from experts in the field (Hamilton, Halverson, Jackson, Mandinach, & Wayman, 2009). These studies found that effective data use can impact teachers' classroom practice as well as principals' quality of support, and as a consequence increase student learning and achievement (Kerr et al., 2006). However, in order to comprehend what data and data use in educational context counts, it is important to clarify the series of questions associated with data use. These questions include: "What are data in the school context?", "Why should schools use data?", and "How do schools use data?" (Schildkamp, Lai, & Earl, 2013). The answer to these questions basically lies in our examination of how teachers and school leaders conceptualize data and data use (Jimerson, 2014) because data use varies with regard to the type of data and the way it is analyzed and interpreted (Ikemoto & Marsh, 2007). In other words, conceptualizing data and data use presupposes an exploration of how teachers and school leaders conceive (develop mental models for data use) what it means to use data in their ongoing work.

In the literature, there are divergent conceptions on what data and data use means. The meaning varies when data are used for accountability, instructional, and school development purposes (Schildkamp et al., 2013) moderated by contextual factors. Even in the same organizational and policy context, the meaning may vary among different stakeholders (e.g. researchers, policymakers, and practitioners) who have different interests and organizational responsibilities. For example, while researchers conceive data as referring to quantitative and qualitative evidence that they collect to answer research questions, policy makers consider data as information they use to evaluate the effectiveness of educational programs. Another example is that some tend to consider "data", "information", and "evidence" one and the same thing while others link "data" with numbers and "data use" with the use of standardized test data for accountability purposes (Jimerson, 2014). The narrow conception that data are information generated from standardized tests and a continued confinement of stakeholders within a domain area in conceptualizing data does not correspond to what counts as data in the educational context in general (Schildkamp et al., 2013); and hence, impact data use as it affects teachers' expectation of students and their own teaching practice.

However, the definition given by Schildkamp et al. (2013) appears to be more relevant to comprehend what counts as data in an educational context. According to them, data are any "information that is collected and organized to represent some aspect of the school" (p.10). This definition is comprehensive in that it encompasses multiple sources and types of data where teachers and

principals need for making decisions to improve student learning. These multiple sources of data include input data (e.g. student characteristics), process data (e.g. the quality of instruction), outcome data (e.g. student test scores, and student well-being), and context data (e.g. policy and resources) (Ikemoto & Marsh, 2007). Data represent the raw state without judgment, interpretation or meaning. As such, it cannot be used for making decisions. For data to be useful, an interpretive data use process that involve noticing of the data itself, making meaning out of it, and construction of implications for action should be put in place (Coburn & Turner, 2011). In view of this meaning of data, data use or data-based decision making can be defined as a process of "systematically analyzing existing data sources within the school, applying outcomes of analyses to innovate teaching, curricula, and school performance, and implementing (e.g. genuine improvement actions) and evaluating these innovations" (Schildkamp & Kuiper, 2010; p.482). Data use therefore represents an iterative process in which teachers and school leaders transform the data into actionable knowledge in a systematic process of data collection, analysis and interpretation.

Several studies have proposed different models and theoretical frameworks regarding the nature and characteristics of data-based decision making in education (e.g., Anderson, Leithwood, & Strauss, 2010; Coburn & Turner, 2011; Hamilton et al., 2009; Ikemoto & Marsh, 2007; Schildkamp & Kuiper, 2010). All of these frameworks have components that assume data use as an interpretive iterative process where a number of conditions, contexts and processes (Coburn & Turner, 2011) determine its course. However, the data use framework developed by Schildkamp & Kuiper (2010) has an advantage of comprehensiveness into the type of data, promoting and hindering factors, and outcomes of data use, and which are hypothesized to be components of data-based decision making.

A data use Theoretical framework for the study



Figure 1. Data use in primary schools: data use, purpose, and promoting and hindering factors, based on Schildkamp& Kuiper (2010)

The figure above displays the policy context surrounding the other components of the theoretical framework. The policy context is proposed to refer to the complex dynamics of curriculum expectations, teaching practice and assessment at all levels in the education system including individual teachers' understanding of their constantly changing school environment (perceptual context) (Schildkamp, Ehren, et al., 2012). The policy context influences the enablers and barriers to data use and how data are used in schools. The enablers and barriers (data and data system characteristics, school organizational characteristics, and data user characteristics) in turn influence data use. The relationship between these variables, however, is two-way in that data use can also influence the enablers and barriers to the use of data (Schildkamp & Kuiper, 2010). In general, the policy context can shape the nature and characteristics of the variables involved by way of limiting possibilities or creating opportunities for data use.

For example, the value given to data at different levels of the education system (e.g. school level, district level, classroom level) would influence how data are used differently at each level (Lee, Seashore Louis, & Anderson, 2012; Levin & Datnow, 2012; Wayman, Jimerson, & Cho, 2012) and the choice of the data type to be used depends on different factors. If student achievement data is highly valued by policy makers because of the accountability system (data and data systems characteristics), schools might select easy-to-use numeric data and ignore other forms of data such as student behavior data, student progress data, classroom observation data which can better explain the teaching and learning process (data use) (Schildkamp, Ehren, et al., 2012). Similarly, when teachers and school leaders use data effectively – using data for long term improvement such as developing instructional strategies for specific groups of students (data use), this may lead to foster sense of ownership and autonomy in data use within school staff (school organizational characteristics). Below, a detailed description of the theoretical framework is presented.

2.2. Data use in schools

The major purpose of using data in schools is to achieve continuous school improvement in terms of increased student achievement. Hence, given the available data in schools, there could be three possible scenarios of data use: *no data use, unintended data use,* and *desired data use*(Schildkamp & Kuiper, 2010). Whether or not schools have little or *no data use* may depend on several factors. Too often lack of availability and sufficiency of data could be the reason (Kerr et al., 2006). As highlighted elsewhere in this paper, however, the mere availability of data does not suffice for effective data use.

Even when data are available it may suffer from undesired data use or *misuse of data*. Misuse of data would be a problem when teachers and school leaders lack the necessary knowledge, skills and disposition of working with data (Schildkamp et al., 2013) that increase the risk of diagnosing wrong problems and then prescribing wrong solutions based on false premises. The other form of undesired data use is *strategic use or abuse* of data. For example, strategic use or abuse of data may be the case when schools have to respond to a high-stake accountability regime with expected liabilities for noncompliance, and when the support provided to them is not sufficient (Ehren & Swanborn, 2012), both of which might push schools to fabricate data, and narrowing dawn the curriculum by teaching to the test (Schildkamp et al., 2013).

The desired data use is described to happen when teachers and school leaders have a direct experience of data collection, analysis, interpretation, and application on issues that are at stake (Schildkamp et al., 2013) to change how the school is functioning, and how teachers practice teaching in the classroom, with the ultimate goal of improving student outcome. This kind of data use is anticipated to have positive impact on student learning as well as achievement, because of the fact that data use is basically aligned with intervention strategies in altering the practice of a school. Illustrated in the theoretical framework (Figure 1), the desired data use in schools can lead to three major purposes: data use for accountability (e.g. communicating to inspectorates, and parents), data use for school development (e.g. policy planning and development), and data use for instructional improvement (e.g. changing instructional approach such as differential instruction for specific groups of students).

2.2.1. Data use for accountability

Data use for accountability purposes refers to schools' use of data to produce evidence for teaching and learning effectiveness (Ingram et al., 2004). Schools can use data, such as assessment and final examination results, classroom observation, and teachers' performance evaluation results, towards students, teachers, parents and educational inspectorates. They use data to evaluate teachers' performance and motivate them by celebrating achievements and improvements. Moreover, schools can use data in their performance review to monitor the extent of goal achievement (Diamond & Spillane, 2004; Schildkamp & Kuiper, 2010; Schildkamp et al., 2013; Wohlstetter, Datnow, & Park, 2008; Young, 2006). Schools use data for accountability purposes also because educational inspectorates provide supervision and in return schools should comply with regulation by periodically reporting their performances and implementing advices given to them. Through the use of regular inspectorates and school governing bodies ascertain the effective functioning of schools.

On the whole, data use plays an important role to produce proof whether actions taken by teachers and school leaders have added value for changing teachers classroom practices and improve student learning and achievement (Coburn & Talbert, 2006). All of which requires schools to use data to prove for students and parents that the education they provide is up to the standard. More importantly, data use can secure accountability of schools in the context of decentralized educational reform, such as school improvement, because accountability is seen as a mechanism to empower schools to collect data from their contexts, analyze and interpret data, and take the necessary actions based on the data.

2.2.2. Data use for school development

The purpose of school development can be achieved when teachers and school leaders use data to determine how the school and stakeholders should function in light of the current emphasis for educational quality. Student achievement data for example can be used for different purposes such as monitoring how well the school is functioning, making curricular decisions (Young, 2006), initiating conversation and discussion with students, teachers, parents, and administrators (Breiter & Light, 2006), shaping professional development through differential strategies (Breiter & Light, 2006; Timperley & Phillips, 2003), reflecting on one's own functioning such as evaluating teachers' performances (Breiter & Light, 2006; Young, 2006), developing and planning of school policy (Breiter & Light, 2006), and so on.

Assessment data can provide important insight on the learning of different groups of students and provide a basis to make changes on policies regarding student learning and achievement as well as testing, teaching timetables, and student grouping (Breiter & Light, 2006; Schildkamp, Rekers-Mombarg, & Harms, 2012). Furthermore, data use also enhances teachers' performance when they use multiple type and source of data for planning, executing, and evaluation in professional development (Schildkamp et al., 2013). Besides, data can enable schools to know their capacities and identify areas where they need to make changes by specifying their goals and priorities.

2.2.3. Data use for instructional improvement

The nature of effective teaching provides the most compelling argument that using data can lead to instructional improvement (Schildkamp et al., 2013). Effective teaching is proposed to be reflective in nature and should be based on data, rather than unscientific assumptions (Timperley & Phillips, 2003). Using assessment and other forms of data enable teachers to achieve a range of activities related to instructional improvement. For example, a teacher may need to focus on reading comprehension skills of students in order to improve their achievement patterns. Decisions on which content area need more attention for examination or which groups of students need special attention for additional academic support (Young, 2006), and what kind of instructional arrangement best suits the needs of specific groups of students can be best addressed when teachers use data.

Furthermore, data play an important role to monitor the effectiveness of interventions and rationalize whether actions taken by teachers and school leaders (e.g. developing new teaching strategies for specific groups of students, effectiveness of a professional development arrangement) positively contributed to school improvement in terms of change in student outcome. However, teachers' decision to change the structure and components of the instruction should be preceded by adequate knowledge of what and how students need to learn as well as what teachers exactly need to do differently in the classroom (Ingram et al., 2004; Schildkamp et al., 2013).

In general, within the domain of instructional improvement, using data is vital to determine how well students are learning in the education system (with reference to general expectations, aims of the curriculum, and preparation for further learning and for life); whether there is evidence of particular strengths and weaknesses in students' knowledge and skills; whether particular subgroups in the population perform poorly; which factors are associated with student achievement; and whether the achievements of students change over time (Greaney & Kellaghan, 2008). Whether the outcomes of using data for instructional purposes are positive or negative however depends on the characteristics of the data, how it is used and whether sufficient support is available for schools to improve (Darling-Hammond & Rustique-Forrester, 2005).

2.3. Factors that enable or hinder data use in schools

A critical point in the ongoing debate on data use seems to be around how data are used and what influences data use in the context of rigorous assessment, standards and accountability regimes. Previous research in data use (e.g. Datnow, Park, & Kennedy-Lewis, 2013; Schildkamp & Kuiper, 2010; Schildkamp et al., 2013; Lachat & Smith, 2005) points to a number of dimensions (or factors) influencing how data are used, ranging from data and data systems characteristics such as type and accessibility of data to user and school organizational characteristics.

2.3.1. Data and data systems characteristics

The characteristics of the data itself and the information system for data management can influence data use. With regard to data itself, there are various types of data collected from *multiple data sources* that can determine the type of decisions made by teachers and school leaders (Lachat & Smith, 2005). These different data types provide essential information about how students' are performing, how teachers practice teaching in the classroom, and in general, how the school is functioning in light of the current emphasis to educational quality. For example, a teacher who wants to improve the achievement of students in reading comprehension could make use of data on student characteristics, such as attendance data (input data), analysis of previous achievement scores on reading comprehension (outcome data), data on critical discussion with students regarding their reading habits (process data) and examination of whether the curriculum and text books are engaging for reading (context data) for designing instruction that best suits their learning needs (Ikemoto & Marsh, 2007; Schildkamp et al., 2013).

Another characteristic of data that can influence its usage is *quality of data*, that is likely to happen because of factors such as accessibility and timeliness of data, the accuracy of available data (Lachat & Smith, 2005), reliability and validity of data, and relevance of data to the schools' primary purpose (e.g. alignment of data strategies with instructional initiatives). More importantly, schools should be able to collect, analyze and interpret data that is useful/or pertinent for making decisions, rather than data that is just available.

Access to an information management system also influence data use in schools. School systems should "develop and maintain district wide data systems" (Hamilton et al., 2009; p.39) where technology is a key component in data management. The proliferation of a large amount of data in schools makes data management less possible in the traditional manner and requires the use of modern data management systems to easily interact with data (Breiter & Light, 2006). Several studies have documented evidence that schools tend to use data to inform classroom instruction when they

have access to data systems, which store data in forms that are easy to access, manipulate, interpret (e.g., Breiter & Light, 2006; Kerr et al., 2006; Wayman & Stringfield, 2006; Wayman, 2005a) and coincides with the growing needs of the user (Wayman & Stringfield, 2006). Hence, using of information management systems create leverage for schools to analyze and report student data regularly, compare their standing with other schools across the accountability indicators and identify specific groups of students in a timely manner that may need special attention (Kerr et al., 2006). On the other hand, the lack, inefficiency or incompatibility of (various) data management systems would delay decision making and could hamper the school improvement process (Schildkamp et al., 2013).

2.3.2. School organizational characteristics

The organizational context of the school shapes how data can be used. The school organizational characteristics manifest itself in several factors including leadership and time for data use (Young, 2006), teacher collaboration and a culture of collaborative inquiry (Wayman & Stringfield, 2005), vision, norms and goals for data use, training, support and partnership programs (Cramer, Little, & McHatton, 2014; Lee et al., 2012), data expert (Schildkamp et al., 2013), ownership and autonomy (Schildkamp & Kuiper, 2010).

Leadership and time for data use: leadership has a critical role in school improvement process. School leaders can effectively formulate and execute plans when they make decisions about students, teachers, and the school on the basis of data (Earl & Fullan, 2003), rather than on untested taken-forgranted basic assumptions. Furthermore, school leaders play an essential role in leading, guiding, and organizing data use in schools; for example, by way of providing time for teacher collaboration around data use, providing support in how to use data and modeling data use and data discussions (Datnow, Park, & Wohlstetter, 2007), demonstrating how to use data effectively, and work collaboratively with teachers in data collection, analysis and interpretation (Levin & Datnow, 2012; Schildkamp, Handelzalts, & Poortman, 2012; Wayman, Midgley, & Stringfield, 2006; Young, 2006).

A culture of collaborative inquiry: a culture of collaborative inquiry is found to have substantive influence on data use in schools. For example, a study by Huffman & Kalnin (2003) indicate that schools engaged in collaborative inquiry in data use have shown improvement in teaching and learning, also increased participation of teachers by allowing them to have more ownership over the data, and expanded their role in decision making process. The process of collaborative inquiry combines a deeper collaboration with inquiry and reflection on data use (Coburn & Talbert, 2006; Katz & Dack, 2014) to create the internal conditions that represent the key management arrangements for improving teaching and learning (Andrews & Andrews, 2002), which are associated with the schools' capacity for sustained development. School leaders can "provide supports that foster a data driven culture within the school" (Hamilton et al., 2009; p.33) such as assigning facilitators to support teacher teams on how to work with data (Datnow et al., 2012), structuring time for teachers to collaborate around data use (Young, 2006) and providing targeted professional development regularly (Timperley & Phillips, 2003). These changes in leadership, time for collaboration and supports for professional growth can generate the internal conditions that are necessary for improvement. In general, collaborative inquiry that challenges teachers' thinking and practice can make meaningful impact on teaching and learning because it addresses both their collective and individual learning needs (Katz & Dack, 2014).

Vision, norms and goals for data use: building a culture of data-based decision making for continuous improvement happens to be one of the major characteristics of schools that set clear visions, norms and goals for data use. Unlike schools that lack clarity on norms and expectations, these schools focus on collaboration, inquiry and reflection with a clear purpose of improving teaching and learning through the use of data (Schildkamp et al., 2013). Schools can create a clear vision and norms around data use when they are able to set specific and measureable student achievement goals at the system, school, and classroom level (Datnow et al., 2007). They should "establish a clear vision for school-wide data use" (Hamilton et al., 2009; p.27) so as to influence the extent to which teachers and students are willing to collaborate and take actions in response to data to identify weaknesses and

strengths, and setting goals for their own learning (Coburn & Turner, 2011). A school-wide data use plan is essential to define teaching and learning concepts, identify the activities, roles and responsibilities of stakeholders, and provide ongoing leadership around data-driven practices (Ikemoto & Marsh, 2007).

Training and support: building school wide capacity through training and support programs is often associated with improvement efforts in teaching and learning. Teachers' collaborative use of data through professional learning communities may lead to continuous school improvement (Farley-Ripple & Buttram, 2014). To use data effectively, teachers and school leaders may have to go through a structured training program using for example the data team procedure (Schildkamp et al., 2013) to acquire skills about the use of statistical terms, concepts, and forms of representing data for better visualization (e.g. graphs, diagrams, etc.). Training and support programs mostly given in the form of professional development should focus on changing the status quo and achieve real improvement by deliberately challenging existing teachers' thinking and practice in data use (Katz & Dack, 2014). Moreover, data use routines impact the effectiveness of training and support, and defined as "the modal ways that people interact with data and each other in the course of their ongoing work" (Coburn & Turner, 2011: p.181). Although often taken for granted and overlooked, data use routines can have subtle but substantial influence in shaping the practice of data use in schools. Data use routines may be informal such as when a school leader demands report and agendas from different departments and then examines the data with members of the school management team. Or, they can be highly designed and structured such as developing data use manuals describing the content and procedures of data use, schedules and protocols of data discussions, role positions describing the functions of a data expert to facilitate data use, and guiding worksheets for data use exercises (Coburn & Turner, 2011; Schildkamp et al., 2013).

Data expert: data collection, analysis and interpretation are obviously a challenging task, partly because there is lack of clarity on data-related responsibilities upon teachers and school leaders. Further, because of lack of the necessary knowledge and skills, dispositions towards data use, and sufficient time to work with data (Schildkamp & Kuiper, 2010), it may be necessary to designate a school-based data facilitator with an expertise in data analysis and ability to train and encourage others in data use processes (Hamilton et al., 2009; Kerr et al., 2006; Young, 2006). The nature and quality of support provided by a data expert has the potential to foster effective data use in schools (Lachat & Smith, 2005).

Ownership and autonomy: under the current accountability environment where data use processes are unfolding at multiple levels of the education system that shape school practices, data can be a source of power; and data use involves power relations between actors within the system (Coburn & Turner, 2011). Schools' ownership with regarding to data use can be enhanced when teachers and school leaders are encouraged to collect data from their school contexts, analyze, interpret and take actions based on data accordingly. These collaborative inquiry processes around data use not only influence teachers and school leaders positively but also encourage them to engage in continuous improvement processes that allowed them to take ownership on data use and expand their role in decision making (Huffman & Kalnin, 2003). Hence, for schools can establish effective data use practices, it is important to maintain the balance between accountability and autonomy.

2.3.3. Data user characteristics

Using data certainly predisposes the user to have knowledge and skills, belief on the use of data, internal locus of control, and motivation to use data (Schildkamp & Kuiper, 2010). The data have to be processed into information and then to knowledge in order to be used for decision making. However, this process of transforming data into actionable knowledge requires teachers and school leaders to develop competence in data inquiry – data literacy. Hence, teachers and school leaders need to have the *knowledge and skills* to collect, analyze, and interpret different forms of student-, school-, and system-level data, and understand concepts such as reliability and validity in data use (Little, 2012; Young, 2006).

The users' *belief in data use* is another condition influencing data use in schools. According to Kelly & Downey (2011) teachers' perception, understanding and use of student assessment data is associated with school-level performance as moderated by a range of factors like teachers' positions of responsibilities. Furthermore, teachers' views of the assessment results as valid measures of students' knowledge and ability (Kerr et al., 2006), and the degree to which school staff value data as usable and quality (Cousins et al., 2006) can also facilitate or hinder data use. For example, teachers may perceive that standardized tests scores only measures cognitive outcomes and lack usefulness in making decisions about altering of teaching practice or student achievement. These beliefs then shape what type of data they prefer to use for making decisions; for example, they may prefer to use behavior data as indicator of student learning (Ingram et al., 2004; Kerr et al., 2006). If teachers and school leaders believe that using data will improve teaching practice, and take actions towards improvement of student learning and achievement, there would be high chance for them to participate in data use activities, and use data for planning instruction.

A related factor is teachers' *internal locus of control* (Schildkamp & Kuiper, 2010) – the belief that they have the capacity to make changes using data or sometimes referred to as self-efficacy beliefs. One's self-efficacy beliefs with regard to data use represents the degree to which a person will have more control over his or her behavior and the more consistent the behavior will be with the attitude to data use (Bandura, 1997, in Vanhoof, Vanlommel, Thijs, & Vanderlocht, 2014). When teachers have internal locus of control, they will attribute success or failure in data use primarily to themselves, rather than externalizing to somebody else. In fact, this will motivate them to examine their weakness and strengths, develop solutions for future actions.

Lastly, *motivation* of teachers and school leaders can influence how they engage with and interpret data use (Schildkamp et al., 2013). Whether or not school staff has the propensity to collaborative inquiry and reflection on prevailing perceptions and practices and making the necessary changes based on data may depend on their strong motivation to maintain a positive self-image (Coburn & Turner, 2011). Schools with a culture of collaborative inquiry and reflection have the potential to engage staff in challenging the status quo based on data and keep them motivated to take action in order to make changes in their ongoing work.

CHAPTER THREE

3. Methodology

3.1. Research design

This study employed a mixed-method research design where it blends quantitative and qualitative data collection methods to investigate data use in primary schools in Ethiopia. Using a qualitative research, the study investigated what kinds of data are available in schools, for what purpose data are often used in schools, and the factors influencing data use. Whereas using quantitative research, the study mainly investigated the purposes of data use and factors influencing data use in primary schools.

3.2. Research context

Since 1991, Ethiopia has become a federal country. The notable consequence of the federal arrangement is the decentralization of educational organization and management with authority devolved to regions (MoE, 1994). Whereas setting national standards and curricula remains the mandates of the Ministry of Education, adapting and administering education to local needs is the authority given to Regional Education Bureaus (REBs). The devolution of authority finally reaches to the *Woreda* (district) Education Office (WEO) which is in charge of allocating school grant and supervising the quality of education in schools(MoE, 2002).

As a manifestation of the federal arrangement, schools are accountable to different bodies. For example, the Woreda (district) Education Office (WEO) provides routine supervision and in return schools should demonstrate their performances with evidence and implement the advices given to them(MoE, 2002). Regional education bureaus (REBs) adapt and distribute curricular materials, such as textbooks, allocate educational finance, and monitor whether schools comply with using the language of instruction. Concerning competence standards, however, schools are accountable either to the Ministry of Education directly or specialized agencies like the General Education Quality Assurance and Examination Agency (GEQAEA), and the National Educational Assessment and Examinations Agency (NEAEA), which supervise and monitor learning using national examination, accreditation and assessment. The GEQAEA for example prepare and administer national exams, and placement of students for different educational levels. The NEAEA on the other hand focuses on conducting national learning assessment of the relevant age cohort at pre-determined levels of education (currently at grades 4, 8, 10, and 12) every four years and provide information about the status of students' learning outcome and the extent to which students attain pre-defined standards or proficiencies on core subjects of language, mathematics, and the sciences (MoE, 2000; 2004; 2008a; 2013b). The country's education system consists of three levels: primary, secondary, and high education. Primary schooling, which is the focus of this study, covers the first eight years of general education, divided into two cycles. The first cycle is lower primary (Grades 1 to 4, ages 7 to 10) and the second cycle is upper primary (Grades 5-8, ages 11 to 14).

3.3. Sampling and sampling techniques

The selection of respondents followed two stages. In the first stage, schools' annual ranking was considered. The Amhara Regional Education Bureau publishes annual schools' ranking based on the schools' performance in terms of input, process and output, and labeled from Level I to Level IV. Further, schools are also encouraged to evaluate themselves using the same criteria and rate their performance levels. Therefore, this study includes schools whose ranking in both of the evaluations (regional inspection report and school self-assessment report) coincided. When the rankings differ, the regional inspection ranking was considered. Accordingly, survey and interview data were collected from a cluster random sample of eight schools (2 schools from each level, total4 high performing and 4 low performing schools) nested in two administrative districts within the study area. For the interview, four schools were included (1 school from each level).

In the second stage, evidence for this study comes from teachers survey (N=235), interview with principals (N=4 including assistant principals), professional development facilitators (N=4), and teachers (N=4) collected from February 16 to March 5, 2015. Moreover, school documents such as school improvement plans, and teacher professional development plans were also used as an additional source of information mainly as a means to triangulate evidence collected through survey and interviews. The selection of teachers and principals considered their positions of responsibilities within the school and the length of time they spent in their present schools, and all of them have spent at least one year in their present schools.

3.4. Instruments

3.4.1. Inventory check-list

Three instruments pertaining to the research questions were used in this study. The first instrument was a data inventory check-list aimed to assess the extent of availability of different kinds of data on a three-point scale, *fully available* when data were available, disaggregated, registered often in a single registration book or computerized (3); *partially available* when data were not sufficiently disaggregated, may be dispersed in different registration books, and not complete (2); and *not available* when data were not registered at all, and hence not available (1). For each school, the check-list was filled in to determine the extent of availability of data.

3.4.2. Survey questionnaire

The second instrument was a 60-item Likert scale survey questionnaire developed by Schildkamp & Kuiper (2010) aimed to assess the purpose of data use and identify the factors influencing data use in schools. The items pertaining to the purpose of data use were organized into three subscales: data use for accountability (3 items); data use for school development (9 items); data use for instructional improvement (11 items). The items for accountability and school development were measured on a four-point scale: strongly disagree (1), disagree (2), agree (3) and strongly agree (4), indicating the level of data use in schools. Similarly, items pertaining to the factors affecting data use also organized into three subscales: data and data systems characteristics (11 items); data user characteristics (8 items), and school organizational characteristics (18 items).Whereas the items for instructional improvement were measured on a six-point scale: almost never (1), yearly (2), twice a year (3), monthly (4), weekly (5) and twice a week (6), indicating the frequency of data use for specific instructional activities. The English version of survey was first translated into the working language of this study area (*Amharic*) before it was administered.

3.4.3. Interviews and documents

The third instrument was a semi-structured interview protocol developed by Schildkamp& Kuiper (2010). The interviews were based on five open-ended questions about the current practice of school improvement, what kind of data schools often use and how they use data for accountability, school development and instructional improvement purposes. The respondents were also asked to identify factors that promote and hinder data use in schools, and explain how these factors influence data use. Furthermore, school documents, such as the school development plans were used to generate additional information mainly for triangulation purposes.

3.5. Procedures

After explaining the objectives of the study, the instruments pertaining to respondents were administered. For assessing the availability of data in schools, the researcher, with the help of the principals, filled in the data inventory check-list for each of the sample schools to determine the extent of availability of data. Also, the survey questionnaires were distributed to teachers and the researcher was available in schools to clarify questions that might be asked by the respondents. Among 345 questionnaires initially distributed in eight schools, 287 were returned and checked for completeness and accuracy. Of these, 52 questionnaires could not be used for they were either partially filled or incomplete, or paternally responded. Hence, 235 questionnaires were entered into the analysis, indicating a 68% response rate.

Semi-structured interviews were conducted with teachers, principals and professional development facilitators (drawn from four schools). On average, 1 hour had been spent with each respondent. The interviews were conducted in *Amharic*, the regional working language in the study area, and their responses were tape recorded.

3.6. Reliability and validity

The quality of the survey instrument was determined through confirmatory factor and reliability analysis. Confirmatory factor analysis showed a 6 factor structure consistent with the theoretical framework: data characteristics, user characteristics, school organizational characteristics, data use for accountability, school development, and instructional improvement. All items sufficiently loaded to the factors well above 0.51 (see Appendix C). Reliability analyses results as measured by Cronbach's coefficient alpha were: data characteristics (0.80), user characteristics (0.83), school organizational characteristics (0.91), data use for accountability (0.80), school development (0.86), and instructional improvement (0.86).

For the semi-structured interview protocol, the inter-rater reliability check of transcribed interview responses was conducted. Two experts (including the researcher) match the full excerpts of the interview data from one of the four schools with the categories or themes using a coding rubric developed based on the literature. The inter-reliability coefficient was calculated from three of the twelve transcribed interview responses (25%) with 20 codes and 44 responses, where the inter-rater agreement was 76.7%, or Cohen's kappa of .767. After translation into *Amharic*, the survey and interview instruments were checked for validity by two language experts independently.

3.7. Data analysis

Concerning the first research question about what kind of data were commonly available and used in schools, a check-list was used to determine the availability of a specific type of data, such as continuous assessment and final examination results, on a scale describing the extent of availability of that data. Also, the actual use of data was captured through respondents' mention of the different kinds of data during the interview. For the second research question about the extent of use data for accountability, school development and instructional improvement purposes, descriptive statistics was calculated based on the survey data. Moreover, a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was calculated in order to determine whether there was significant mean score difference between high and low performing schools. Regarding the third research question about the factors influencing data use, multiple regression analysis was used to determine the extent to which data use for accountability, school development, and instructional improvement purposes were influenced by data, user, and school organizational characteristics. Further, the interview data were transcribed and organized according to the guiding questions; then, scrutinized to identify conceptual or semantic relationship between them as related the purposes of and factors influencing data use to get a deeper understanding.

3.8. Ethical considerations

The University of Twente Research Ethical Committee has approved the application for ethical clearance of the study before data collection. Moreover, permission from the *Woreda* (district) Education Office (WEO) was obtained for collecting data from sample schools. Participation in the study was entirely on voluntary basis, where the respondents were informed about the objective of the study including the anonymity of their responses. Their informed consent was obtained before distributing the survey and tape-recording interview responses.

CHAPTER FOUR

4. Results

This study aimed to investigate data use for school improvement in primary schools in Ethiopia. The study aimed to assess the kinds of data commonly available and used in schools, examine the purpose for which schools use data, and identify factors influencing data use. The data were collected using the check-list, survey questionnaire, interviews and documents. In this section the results are presented in three parts pertaining to the research questions, where the first part presents data collected mainly through the check-list on the kind of data available and used in primary schools. The second part presents survey data regarding the purpose of data use. The third part also presents survey data on the factors influencing data use in schools. Besides, data obtained through semi-structured interviews (teachers, principals, PD facilitators) and documents are presented for a deeper level understanding of the purpose of data use and influencing factors.

4.1. Type of data available in primary schools

Table 1 summarizes *input data* available in high and low performing schools according to the data inventory check-list. The input data available in high and low performing schools are mostly similar, where most of the available data are fairly disaggregated and recorded in data registration book. Whereas quite some data are available but are incomplete, insufficiently disaggregated, and dispersed in different registration books which may be creating barriers of accessibility. The similarity also goes in the absence of certain data types, such as distance a student has to walk to school and data on school feeding. On the other hand, there are also some differences in that some data types are only found in high data use schools, such as data on students with learning difficulties and data on student socio-economic status. Interestingly, however, most of the incomplete and insufficiently disaggregated data are also found in high performing schools.

Table 2 shows *process data* available in high and low performing schools. The kinds of process data available in high and low performing schools are mostly similar except for some which are only available in high performing schools. For example, data on the amount of time school leaders spent dealing with instructional and administrative issues are available only in high performing school (two schools). The table also shows difference in the extent of availability of certain kinds of process data that is slightly more visible in high performing schools than in low performing schools. For example, there is much difference within high performing schools on the availability of data on student survey and interviews, parent survey and interviews, student group plan and reports than low performing schools.

Table 3 presents *context data* available in high and low performing schools. Although most of the context data are available in all schools, the extent of availability shows more variability in high performing schools than low performing schools. For example, data regarding government annual reports and study results, and school infrastructure are found at different degree of availability from not available at all to fully available in high performing schools. Whereas in low performing schools, the extent of availability of context data is generally similar in that there is less variation among them. While school policy and professional development plans are fully available, government policies and guidelines, school infrastructure and school facilities data are partially available across the low performing schools. Context data are more registered, organized and fully available in high performing schools.

Table 4 summarizes *output data* available in high and low performing schools. The high and low performing schools resemble in terms of the extent to which output data are available, where almost all output data except for parents' inspection report are fully available. Data on parents' inspection report and student report cards are partially available in most schools. The result shows more similarities than differences among schools in terms of the availability of context data.

On the whole, the result shows that there are some differences among schools in terms of the availability of certain kinds of data. The differences are mostly because of the organization and accessibility of the data. However, certain kinds of data, such as data on students' socio-economic status data, preprimary school experience, and amount of time school leaders allocate for instructional and administrative purposes were only available in few schools.

While schools had a wide range of input, process, context, and output data in their possession according to the data inventory check-list, the actual use of data as captured in recurrently mentioned interview responses of respondents seem to be limited to around a few data types. Table 5 illustrates the list of data that were frequently mentioned by the respondents in their interview responses. Accordingly, the respondents in all schools mentioned the use of input data, such as student enrolment data, process data (e.g. continuous assessment, classroom observation, and teacher performance evaluation and PD portfolio), context data (e.g. school improvement plan) and output data (e.g. final examination result, analysis of student results, promoted and dropout students). However, the types of data that were reported to be used vary between and within high and low performing schools. For example, socio-economic data, teacher qualification, performance review data, student hearing, student achievement targets, student and teacher satisfaction survey, student evaluation of teachers' performance and data on exam cheating behavior were mentioned by respondents in high performing schools (School 1). On the other hand, teaching load, school minutes, student attendance, teacher lesson plans, and annual educational statistics were mentioned as mostly used data types by respondents from low performing schools (often in School 5). Both high and low performing schools seemed to be using more process data followed by output data.

Table 1. Kinds of input data available in high and low performing schools

Data types	-	gh pe 100ls		ning										v pei ools	erforming ls									
	Scł	100l	1	Sch	nool	2	Scł	nool (3	Sch	100l 4	4	Sch	lool :	5	Sch	nool	6	Sch	iool '	7	Sch	lool 8	;
	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3
Student intake/enrolment by demographic data (e.g. age, gender)			Х		Х			Х				Х			Х			Х			Х		Х	
Enrolment of students with special educational needs		Х				Х		Х				Х			Х	Х			Х				Х	
Data on students enrolled in alternative basic education, and night program	Х					Х	Х					Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
Data on at-risk students (students with learning difficulties)			Х		Х				Х		Х			Х			Х			Х		Х		
Pre-primary school attendance (e.g. students' kindergarten experience)			Х	Х				Х		Х			Х				Х		Х				Х	
Teachers' level of qualification (including additional trainings and credentials teachers hold)			Х		Х			Х				Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
Teachers' experience in teaching (e.g. years in teaching)			Х		Х				Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
Teaching load of teachers (e.g. periods per week)			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
Fees and revenue generation (e.g. payments)			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
Distance a student has to walk to school (in Km, or in Minutes)	Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х		
Socio-economic data (parental education, income level, etc.)			Х	Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х		
Data on class size/number of students per section			Х			Х		Х				Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
Student-teacher ratio			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
Student-section ratio			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
Student-textbook ratio			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
Nutrition and feeding data	Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х		

Note: for the availability of data, the possible alternatives were: 1 = not available - when data are not registered at all, and not available; 2 = partially available - when data are not sufficiently disaggregated, dispersed in different registration books, and incomplete; and 3 = fully available - when the data are available, disaggregated, registered in a single registration book or computerized.

Table 2. Kinds of process data available in high and low performing schools

Data types			erforn	ning										Low performing schools										
		lools																						
	Scl	100l	-	Sch	iool 2		Scł	lool		Sch	ool 4		Sch	lool		Sch	100l		Scł	1001	-	Sch	1001 8	-
	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3
Classroom lesson observation data			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
Lesson plans			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
Teachers' daily attendance data		Х				Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
Teachers' lesson attendance data			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
Length of instructional time allocated for different subjects/time tables			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
Amount of time school leaders spent to instruction, and administrative		Х			Х		Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х		
issues																								
Students' attendance/ Absentees data			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
Frequency of assignments/tests/assessments given in each subject			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
Student discipline/behavior data			Х		Х			Х				Х		Х			Х			Х				Х
Teacher performance appraisal data			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
School self-evaluation/internal evaluation			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
Co-curricular activities (e.g. school clubs)			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
Fiscal and expenditure data (School financial operation)			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
Student and staff transfer data			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
Staff survey and/or interviews data			Х		Х			Х				Х			Х			Х			Х		Х	
Student surveys and/or interviews (e.g. time spent in doing homework)			Х		Х		Х				Х			Х			Х			Х			Х	
Parent surveys and/or interviews (e.g. what kind of parental support)			Х	Х			Х				Х			Х		Х				Х			Х	
School calendar			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
Staff minutes			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
Students' council minutes			Х		Х			Х			Х				Х		Х			Х			Х	
Professional development, and action research portfolios		Х			Х				Х		Х				Х			Х		Х				Х
Tutorial classes (e.g. when, how much, which subject, for whom)			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х		Х			Х	
Students' group plan and report (e.g. 1 to 5 ability grouping)	Х				Х			Х				Х			Х		Х				Х			Х
Student progress data (e.g. continuous assessment results)			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
Previous exam questions, and test items			Х		Х				Х		Х			Х			Х			Х			Х	
Students' target (setting achievement goals)			Х		Х				Х			Х			Х		Х			Х			Х	

Note: for the availability of data, the possible alternatives were: 1 = not available - when data are not registered at all, and not available; 2 = partially available - when data are not sufficiently disaggregated, dispersed in different registration books, and incomplete; and 3 = fully available - when the data are available, disaggregated, registered in a single registration book or computerized

Table 3. Kinds of context data available in high and low performing schools

Data types	High performingLow performingschoolsschools																							
	Sc	hool	1	Scl	nool	2	Sch	nool	3	Sc	hool	4	Scl	hool	5	School 6 School 7				School 8		8		
	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3
Government policies and guidelines (Education and training policy,			Х			Х			Х		Х			Х			Х			Х			Х	
ESDPs, School Improvement Framework, etc.)																								
Government annual reports and study results (Education statistics annual			Х		Х		Х				Х			Х			Х			Х		Х		
abstracts, National Learning Assessment, Early Grade Reading																								
Assessment, etc.)																								
School policy plans and information (e.g. school improvement plans)			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
School infrastructure data (type, quantity, quality of equipment, buildings,			Х	Х					Х		Х			Х			Х			Х			Х	
instruments, etc.)																								
School facilities data (water, latrines, playground, library, clinics,			Х			Х			Х		Х			Х			Х			Х			Х	
pedagogical center, computers, cafeteria, electricity, etc.)																								
Professional development plan (group/department level)		Х			Х				Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
Parent-teacher-student association plan (classroom/school level)			Х			Х		Х				Х			Х			Х		Х			Х	

Note: for the availability of data, the possible alternatives were: 1 = not available - when data are not registered at all, and not available; 2 = partially available - when data are not sufficiently disaggregated, dispersed in different registration books, and incomplete; and 3 = fully available - when the data are available, disaggregated, registered in a single registration book or computerized

Table 4. Kinds of output data available in high and low performing schools

Data types	High performing schools								Low performing schools															
	_	hool		Sch	nool	2	Sch	nool	3	Sc	hool	4		hool		Sc	hool	6	Scl	hool	7	Scl	hool 8	8
	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3	1	2	3
Parents' inspection reports		Х		Х			Х				Х			Х			Х			Х			Χ	
Student achievement data (e.g. Final exam results and analysis)			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
Student report cards (e.g. with competencies in each subject)			Х		Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х	
School inspection reports/external evaluations			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
Dropout data			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
Repetition data			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
Promotion data			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
Survival rate to Grade 5			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х
Primary completion rate			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х			Х

Note: for the availability of data, the possible alternatives were: 1 = not available - when data are not registered at all, and not available; 2 = partially available - when data are not sufficiently disaggregated, dispersed in different registration books, and incomplete; and 3 = fully available - when the data are available, disaggregated, registered in a single registration book or computerized

Table 5. Kinds of data (input, process, context and output) mentioned by respondents from high and low
performing schools during the interview.

	High perfo schools					
	School 1	School 2	School 5	School 8		
Input data						
Enrolment	Х	Х	Х	X		
Teaching load			Х	Х		
Teacher qualification	Х					
Socio-economic data	Х					
Process data						
Continuous assessment	X	Х	X	Х		
Classroom observation data	Х	Х	Х	Х		
Teacher performance evaluation	Х	Х	Х	Х		
Performance reviews	X					
Student hearing (monthly FGD)	Х					
Missed & tutorial classes	X	Х	Х	Х		
Student achievement target	X					
Teacher and student satisfaction (survey)	X					
School minutes	X		Х	Х		
Peer-led team learning		Х	Х	Х		
PD portfolio	X	Х	Х	Х		
Student attendance			Х			
Teacher lesson plans			Х			
Context data						
School improvement plan	X	Х	X	Х		
Education and training policy		Х				
Output data						
Final examination results	Х	X	X	X		
Analysis of student results	Х	Х	Х	Х		
Promotion and dropout	Х	Х	Х	Х		
Annual educational statistics			Х			
Student evaluation of teacher performance	X					
Exam cheating behavior (survey)	X					
Discussion with parents (minutes)	X	Х	Х	Х		

4.2. The purpose of using data in primary schools

The study aimed to find out the extent to which teachers in high performing and low performing schools use data for accountability, school development, and instructional improvement purposes. With respect to this, the teachers responded to a sixty-item survey instrument and their scores across the three data use purposes were analyzed using descriptive statistics. Teachers were asked to rate the strength of their agreement with the statements describing their extent of use of data for accountability, school development and instruction. Table 6 summarizes the means, std. deviations, minimum, and maximum values on the three scales. The results show that teachers in most of the schools scored high on data use for accountability purposes, generally because they rate most statements moderately positive. They also scored high in data use for school development and instructional improvement purposes, indicating that teachers generally agree with most of the statements in the three scales. Despite higher score in the scales, the mean scores also highlight some degree of disparity among schools in using data for accountability, school development and instructional improvement.

Data use purposes	Schools	School label	Mean	Std. dev.	Min.	Max.
Accountability	1	High (n=29)	3.0805	.70517	1.00	4.00
(3 items)	2	High $(n=24)$	2.9444	.55313	2.00	4.00
	3	High $(n=33)$	3.2525	.44120	2.33	4.00
	4	High $(n=22)$	3.4697	.44435	2.67	4.00
	5	Low (n=35)	3.1810	.64343	1.00	4.00
	6	Low (n=30)	2.9111	.27589	2.33	3.33
	7	Low $(n=17)$	2.5294	.45733	1.67	3.33
	8	Low $(n=45)$	3.2296	.49145	2.33	4.00
School	1	High $(n=29)$	3.0421	.68003	1.11	4.00
development	2	High $(n=24)$	2.7778	.39454	2.00	3.67
(9 items)	3	High $(n=33)$	3.1010	.39904	2.11	4.00
	4	High $(n=22)$	3.2071	.48286	2.44	4.00
	5	Low (n=35)	3.0508	.58568	1.00	4.00
	6	Low (n=30)	2.9074	.40651	2.11	3.67
	7	Low (n=17)	2.6536	.56640	1.44	3.78
	8	Low (n=45)	3.1037	.44026	2.33	4.00
Instructional	1	High $(n=29)$	4.2508	.83449	2.00	5.64
improvement	2	High $(n=24)$	4.5833	.84770	2.27	5.64
(11 items)	3	High $(n=33)$	4.7824	.49216	3.00	5.82
	4	High $(n=22)$	4.5041	1.0795	1.55	5.91
	5	Low (n=35)	4.4104	.72740	2.64	5.64
	6	Low (n=30)	4.4424	.78230	2.36	5.36
	7	Low(n=17)	4.4706	.67054	3.00	5.45
	8	Low $(n=45)$	4.6626	.60849	2.91	5.55

Table 6. Data use for accountability, school development and instructional improvement in each sample schools.

Note: For accountability and school development, the possible alternatives were: 1 = strongly disagree; 2 = disagree; 3 = agree; and 4 = strongly disagree. Whereas for instructional improvement, possible alternatives were 1 = almost never; 2 = yearly; 3 = twice a year; 4 = monthly; 5 = weekly; and 6 = twice a week. Further, Schools 1, 2, 3, and 4 are high performing schools whereas Schools 5, 6, 7, and 8 are low performing schools.

For the analysis with regard to high performing and low performing schools, and to determine whether there was a significant mean score difference between them, a one way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was calculated. Descriptive statistics on data use for accountability, school development, and instructional improvement are presented in Table 7. The results (see Table 7) show that teachers in both high and low performing schools generally did not differ, suggesting that they agreed to most of the statements in data use for accountability (M=3.1821, SD=.57172; M=3.0472, SD=.54550) and school development (M=3.0350, SD=.51975; M=2.9825, SD=.51137), and use data at least moderately for instructional improvement (M=4.5387, SD=.82422; M=4.5154, SD=.69452). Although teachers in high performing schools scored slightly higher than teachers in low performing schools across the three scales, the difference was not statistically significant (F $_{(1, 233)}$ =, p<.05), suggesting that there was no real difference on data use for accountability, school development and instructional improvement purposes between high and low performing schools (see Table 8).

Data use purpose	High performing	Low performing	Total
	schools	schools	(N=235)
	(n=108)	(n=127)	
	M(SD)	M(SD)	M(SD)
Accountability	3.1821(.57172)	3.0472(.54550)	3.1092 (.56056)
School development	3.0350 (.51975)	2.9825 (.51137)	3.0066 (.51480)
Instructional improvement	4.5387 (.82422)	4.5154 (.69452)	4.5261 (.75532)

Table 7. Descriptive statistics for teachers' data use for accountability, school development and instructional improvement for high and low performing schools.

Note: For accountability and school development, the possible alternatives were: 1 = strongly disagree; 2 = disagree; 3 = agree; and 4 = strongly disagree. Whereas for instructional improvement, possible alternatives were 1 = almost never; 2 = yearly; 3 = twice a year; 4 = monthly; 5 = weekly; and 6 = twice a week.

Table 8. One-way Analysis of variance (ANOVA) of data use for accountability, school development, and instructional improvement for high and low performing schools.

	Source	SS	df	MS	F	Sig.
Accountability	Between	1.061	1	1.061	3.413	.066
	Within	72.469	233	.311		
School development	Between	.161	1	.161	.605	.437
	Within	61.854	233	.265		
Instructional improvement	Between	.032	1	.032	.055	.814
	Within	133.467	233	.573		

Using a semi-structured interviews, teachers, school leaders and professional development facilitators were asked to explain what kind of data they use for accountability, school development and instruction, and how. Below, the description of data from interview responses are presented in three sub-sections corresponding with data use purposes.

4.2.1. Data use for accountability in high and low performing schools

On data use for accountability purposes, the respondents were asked to explain how they use data for evaluating performance, monitoring the achievement of goals, motivating students and the staff, and meeting accountability demands by regularly reporting to parents and school administration. Below is the within-case analysis of data use for accountability purposes in high and low performing schools followed by a cross-case examination between them.

4.2.1.1. Within-case analysis: data use for accountability in high performing schools

One consistent finding that has surfaced from the interview of teachers, principals and professional development (PD) facilitators was their understanding of data use in terms of meeting the accountability demands. With regard to *evaluating teachers' performance*, interview responses indicate differences among the high performing schools in the sense that School 1 stands out more explicit in using student assessment, data on teacher utilization of instructional time, and the provision of additional learning opportunities especially for low achieving students to evaluate teachers' performance. Whereas in School 2, data use was mentioned only slightly as teachers' participation in professional development activities is one component of teachers' evaluation and a criteria for nominating teachers for other training programs provided mainly by external stakeholders. A principal from School 1 reported that:

Decisions on career promotion and other benefit packages are based on data. For example, teacher quality and effectiveness of teaching is evaluated based on three categories of indicators: teachers' pedagogical content knowledge and skills, teachers' behavior, and students result.

Data use for *monitoring progress* in goal achievement was also mentioned though the responses indicate some degree of difference among schools in the extent of use. While there was no mention of using data to monitor goal achievement in School 2, the responses in School 1 appears to be more explicit and explanatory. Periodic review of performance was conducted to evaluate the extent of achievement of planned activities and make adjustments when the review has shown otherwise. As indicated in the school's development plan "four performance review meetings will be held with stakeholders per year", where performance was planned to be checked using school records, such as school minutes and school self-assessment reports. When asked about how schools were using data for monitoring goal achievement, a PD facilitator from School 1 reported that:

The analysis of student results is given to departments for reviewing achievement levels. The analysis shows the status of each department in improving student achievement, and on which subject students are not doing well. It also shows what, how, and to what extent teachers needs to do in the future to reach to the planned target.

The responses also indicate that schools have different experiences in using data to *motivate students and the staff*. The responses from School 2 didn't show any kind of experience attributable for using data to celebrate achievements and improvement of practice. Whereas in School 1, the responses indicated that there are experiences of using data to celebrate achievements and improvements of the teachers. A principal from School 1 states that:

"...students evaluate the performance of their teachers. Based on the evaluation result, teachers are ranked and the school recognizes those who perform well for their good performances".

The information from documents also provides evidence that School 1 uses interview and survey data to motivate students and the staff, where the school set target to increase "the percentage of teachers and students who feel they participate in the school decision-making to 95%".

Moreover, the responses indicated that data were used for *meeting accountability demands and complying with regulation* by periodically reporting (or communicating) activities for which they are responsible. In some schools however reporting data seemed to be a routine practice that should be performed periodically, which could be reducing its significance. For example in School 2, data (e.g. student achievement data) were reported because it is a standard requirement. As the PD facilitator stated "teachers need to record their PD activities in a portfolio...once checked and stamped by the principal, it will be filed with their profile as an evidence of their participation". Whereas in other schools like School 1 communicating student achievement data were reported to be helping teachers to identify problems and actions that would be taken by the school and other stakeholders for the purpose of improving student learning. A PD facilitator from School 1 reported that:

The school uses the analysis result to communicate with parents especially when a child shows a decrease in learning and achievement. Teachers and school leaders make consultation with parents on the status of the student, the problems on achievement levels, and actions taken in the future by the school and the parent.

The interview and document analysis indicated that schools use data for accountability purposes, but there is noticeable difference within the high performing schools, where School 1 generally stands out better than School 2. While School 1 uses data to evaluate teacher performance, monitoring goal achievement, motivating students and the staff, and meeting accountability demands through periodic reporting, School 2 was restricted to use data for evaluating performance and meeting accountability demands.

4.2.1.2. Within-case analysis: data use for accountability in low performing schools

The responses from low performing schools also indicated data use for meeting accountability demands. That is, using data to evaluate performance, monitor progress towards goal achievement and regularly reporting performances as a standard procedure. Concerning the *evaluation of teachers' performance*, student achievement data were given more emphasis, where teachers were required to meet the student achievement targets set by the schools. A principal from School 8 stated that student achievement is the key component of teacher performance evaluation, where "teachers should meet the proportion of students who score below 50%, 50 to 74%, 75 to 84%, and above 85% as determined in the school target". Besides, classroom observation and supervision data, continuous assessment results, and lesson plans were reported to be checked in order to determine whether teachers have fulfilled (complying with) the performance evaluation requirements. A principal from School 5 reported that:

We inspect teacher lesson plans to check to what extent teachers incorporated different domains of learning, active learning strategies and appropriate instructional materials. Continuous assessment documents are checked whether teachers comply with the school mandates. There are periodic classroom observations to see how teachers' create effective teaching environment.

Teachers however argued that principals and educational officials unrealistically assume teachers can improve the quality of education and demand improved student achievement scores in the absence of appropriate school setup and the presence of socio-economic differences between students. The criterion used in teachers performance evaluation and the direction coming from the *Woreda* (district) Education Office (WEO) often contradict with the school and classroom context. Explaining how teachers comply with the performance evaluation standards of the school, a teacher from School 5 raised concern on the risk that excessive demands has led some teacher to compromise on their professional ethics. He reported that:

The target that says all students should score above 50% is tough to achieve given the large class size, workload, student absenteeism and low student motivation. This often pushed teachers to inflate student scores and compromise the authenticity of reported achievement scores in teacher made tests.

The interview responses also indicated that schools use data for evaluating teachers' performance in a more formative evaluation manner, where teachers at department level discuss the extent of content coverage and number of missed periods, student attendance, provision of tutorial classes, and the functioning of peer-led student learning groups. Indicating that formative performance evaluation is helpful to know about teachers' current performance levels, identify weaknesses and strengths, and anticipate possible actions, a PD facilitator from School 5 reported that:

Teachers in their department evaluate their performances weekly and report to the school. They evaluate students' participation in learning groups, attendance, content coverage, missed classes, and tutorial support, and so on. They also compare their performances with others in the department. The evaluation result is used to rank departments and teachers.

The schools consider teachers as key players in their improvement processes and assign several roles for which teachers are accountable. The documents include targets, strategies of implementation, expected result, required resources including time, role owners and indicators of practice. However, there are targets written in a generic way that might preclude the chances to use data for evaluating performance. Similarly the performance indicators were also written in a way that simply describes the expected result. For example, School 5 intends to "use action research to develop teachers' capacity" and sets "training and discussions among teachers" as a means for implementation. While the expected result was described as "teachers' capacity is improved, and students' achievement reached to sufficient level", the indicators of performance simply say "evaluation against the plan".

For using data to *monitor progress* in goal achievement, reflections of respondents indicated that there is some degree of resemblance among low performing schools. The respondents mentioned student

assessment, attendance, repetition, and dropout data as frequently used data types to check whether teachers are achieving the targets set at the school level. Besides, data were reported to be used for determining the level of the school as expected by the Ministry of Education inspection manual. A PD facilitator from School 5 stated that:

The school set goals to increase student achievement with a target of all students achieve above 50%. This target should also be translated into every subject and grade level. Student assessment results, attendance and demographic data are used to check achievement of the target and the school's rank in terms of input, process, and output.

Periodically reporting performance data for *meeting accountability demands* and complying with the regulation was mentioned by principals and professional development facilitators. The responses indicated that recording student achievement, behavior and discipline data and reporting to the school administration is one of teachers' responsibilities. A principal from School 5 stated that:

Registration books are distributed to teachers to record student assessment results, classroom participation, and discipline and behavior. The recorded information is reported to the vice principal every month; and including final examination results at the end of the semester.

This point of view was also echoed by a principal from School 8. He stated that:

Student data are reported in three ways to the *Woreda* (district) education office. First, at the beginning of the academic year, the number of students who get registered is reported. Second, there is monthly report of dropout students. Third, at the end of the semester, the proportion of students who achieve below 50%, 50 to 74 %, 75 to 84%, and above 85% is reported.

The responses overall indicate that low performing schools use data for accountability purposes more or less in the same manner. Data were used for evaluating performance in a more formative way that allows teachers to periodically evaluate their performance and compare with others in the school. Moreover, schools resemble in using data to monitor goal achievement at the school level and meeting accountability demands by regularly reporting to the administration. However, the results also indicated the risk of using data inappropriately when teachers are pushed by the 'unrealistic' expectations to manipulate student achievement scores.

4.2.1.3. Cross-case analysis: data use for accountability in high and low performing schools

Analyses of responses suggest that high performing schools displayed both similarity and differences in using data for accountability purposes. School 1 and School 2 exhibit some degree of resemblance in using data for evaluating teachers' performance and periodically reporting performance as a routine practice. However, the type of data and the ways it was used differ. For example, School 1 more often uses student achievement data, data on utilization of instructional time and additional learning support for low achieving students than School 2. Besides, data were used to motivate students and the staff by celebrating achievements and improvements. Hence, high performing schools were more different than similar when using data for accountability purposes.

Low performing schools however used data for accountability purposes more or less in the same manner. Different types of data, such classroom observation, continuous assessment, lesson plans and provision of tutorial classes were used to evaluate teachers' performance in formative manner, where teachers review performances and compare achievements with others to scale up best practices. Moreover, schools also used drop out and repetition data to monitor the achievement of goals by regularly evaluating planned activities, and reporting to the administrators. As a whole, high performing schools (particularly School 1) used different kinds of data for accountability purposes slightly better than low performing schools whose practice seems to be threatened by unrealistic expectations that might push schools to manipulate data.

4.2.2. Data use for school development in high and low performing schools

Regarding data use for school development, the respondents were asked to explain how they use data for school development planning process, setting priorities, goals and targets, shaping professional

development, supporting conversation with parents, teachers and administrators as well as reflecting on their own teaching practices. A separate within-case analysis of data use for school development purposes in high and low performing schools is presented below followed by a cross-case examination.

4.2.2.1. Within-case analysis: data use for school development in high performing schools

The respondents were first asked to explain how the school improvement and teachers' professional development plans were developed. The respondents unanimously expressed that school *development planning process* was participatory, where the school improvement committee mainly organizes the participation of teachers, students, and parents. For example, a principal from School 1 explains that "all teachers participate to express their views, about 60% of the students participate in filling the questionnaires, and some selected parents (about 40-50%) also participate" in the planning process. Although the planning process was described as participatory, the nature and extent of participation seemed to vary between stakeholders. For example, the participation of parents was described mostly in relation to fundraising, and monitoring student behavior and discipline. The principal continues to say the following:

Parents participate in raising fund to fulfill school resources. They also help the school in shaping student behavior and discipline, where tripartite target setting is a good example. The school, the parent and the student set time bound goals to improve achievement; and parents agree to follow up the child's behavior and discipline, make regular school visit to consult teachers.

The nature of stakeholders' participation in school development planning, however, remains different within high performing schools. While some schools often used analysis of student achievement scores, classroom observation and supervision reports, and student satisfaction survey results to prepare teacher professional development plans (School 1), others base their decisions on discussions made during teachers' general meetings. Explaining how the contents for *professional development* were determined, a PD facilitator from School 2 stated that teachers made discussions on the challenges of teaching and learning. Following the discussion, "teachers forward the list of challenges [as professional development topics], of which they select the top three that are most commonly faced by them". Evidences from the schools' documents also appear to support what was obtained through interview responses, where schools follow almost similar PD format and structure, but differ on how they determine the content. Analysis of student achievement scores was the basis for determining the needs of professional development in School 1, but that was not the case in School 2. Rather, the school "identified twenty two" potential 'problems' during discussions with the teachers, from which ten of them were selected as topics for professional development.

The responses also suggest that there are distinctions in identifying areas of need for policy development and planning, and *setting priorities, goals and targets for improvement*. For example, School 1 appears to have used multiple sources of data, including assessment and classroom observation data disaggregated by different student characteristics, such as socio-economic status, to identify strengths and weaknesses that make comparison of baseline, actual and target achievement easier. Whereas in School 2 often used data were continuous assessment and final examination results disaggregated only in terms of the genders. When asked to explain what and how data are used for school development planning, a principal from School 1 reported that:

...often a five year trend analysis of student results is conducted. For example, the analysis mostly indicated achievement gaps between students from the community and students from orphanage supported by our school where the former achieve better. So, one of the targets of this year's plan is reducing the achievement gaps between community and orphanage students by 20%. Data are used to monitor and evaluate the school improvement plan, compare baseline achievement with the target achievement and compare current actual achievement with a similar period in the previous year on the basis of student characteristics.

Using data for *shaping teacher professional development* was also reflected in the responses of teachers, principals and PD facilitators. However, these perspectives were not widely shared by respondents from all of the high performing schools, rather confined to some schools which seemed to have better data use practices. Only the responses of principals and PD facilitators from School 1 indicated that analysis of teachers' instructional planning, classroom observation, student satisfaction survey data, and student assessment results is often followed by identification of knowledge and skills gap of the teachers for intervention planning. A principal from School 1 stated that:

The analysis of achievement scores may show some groups of students achieve below the target, as a result, we may need to design special support programs like tutorials. Based on student satisfaction survey, classroom observation and supervision reports as well as teacher satisfaction survey, we may organize training programs for teachers on specific skill development programs often in the form of professional development activities.

Setting priorities, goals and targets for professional development and shaping its nature and characteristics ongoing is partly related with how its content was determined initially. The PD and school improvement documents of School 1 indicated that the school set a goal to increase the "percentage of teachers, in the lessons observed, who adjusted their teaching strategies according to the interests of individual students and groups to 92.3%" based on teachers' interview and survey data. On the contrary, School 2 bases its decision on teachers' discussions. The responses also indicate that schools used data for *supporting conversations with parents, students, and teachers* and with the school administration. For example, teachers use assessment results to reflect on their own teaching practice often in department level evaluative meetings and professional development sessions, including how they developed differential instruction for students, student achievement, attendance and participation in classroom activities and the functioning of peer-led team learning approach. A PD facilitator in School 1 states that:

For example, when student achievement score shows problems, we discuss with the student, parents, and teachers; then we identify whether the problems are related to the exam, the student, or the teacher. We collect parents' views, teachers' records and views about the student, and then propose interventions to change the achievement problem.

This point of view was also echoed by another PD facilitator from School 2 who says that "teachers reflect on their own teaching practices in PD sessions, and often followed by questions and propositions from other teachers". Evidence from the schools' documents also indicate that high performing schools exhibit noticeable difference within themselves in using data for meeting accountability demands by complying with regulations. While School 1 sets performance target to conduct "four meetings per year with parents to present and discuss student assessment methods, learning achievements and annual learning targets" and intends to use school records and self-assessment data for verification, School 2 often focuses on phony targets that appears to be difficult for measurement. For example, School 2 sets targets to "establish partnership with external stakeholders and improve teaching and learning". However, there was no mention of what data can be used to measure performance level and how.

The evidences suggest that schools created different mechanisms to participate stakeholders in school development planning though the nature and extent of participation differ. While some schools participate the staff to some extent in data collection and analysis (School 1), others define participation in terms of discussion to set out areas of professional development needs (School 2). They also differ in the amount of data collected and used to identify areas of need and set priorities, goals and targets. School 1 collected multiple types of data that were fairly disaggregated by different student characteristics than School 2 and used to set baseline, actual and target achievement goals. Moreover, differences were observed when using data to shape professional development. Several kinds of data (e.g. instructional plans, achievement and classroom observation data) were analyzed to base decisions for intervention planning to bridge teachers' knowledge and skills gap. High performing schools however displayed similarities in using data for supporting conversation. Also supported with data from school development documents, the differences within high performing schools override the similarities in using data for school development purposes.

4.2.2.2. Within-case analysis: data use for school development in low performing schools

Developing the *school improvement plan* in low performing schools follows almost the same process as in the high performing schools. The process starts with the formation of a school improvement committee charged with collecting data through questionnaires, interviews and documents (e.g. student achievement records and school minutes). Explaining the process of formulating the school development plan and what kinds of data were used to identify the areas of need for improvement and set priorities, goals and targets, a principal from School 5 stated that:

The school improvement committee distributes questionnaires to teachers, conduct focus group discussion with students and parents, collects information from different documents, such as student achievement rosters, and school minutes. The committee then rates the extent of student achievement in different subjects as very high, high, low and very low, and decides target areas.

Although schools collected different kinds of data to determine areas of need for school development planning, they lack the necessary autonomy for *setting priorities, goals and targets*. The schools' effort to contextualize their school improvement planning seemed to be challenged as they were supposed to directly adopt targets set at national level. As such, student achievement data were mainly used to determine school level and classroom level goals. A principal from School 5 reported that:

The school set targets in line with the government's national goals in the education sector which says that all students should score above 50%, 50% of students score 50-74%, 35% of students score 75-84%, and 15% of students score above 85%.

A teacher and PD facilitator from School 8 also explains how schools and individual teachers determine improvement goals. He stated that:

The *Woreda* (district) Education Office expects schools to improve student achievement levels by 10% annually. The school then set its targets based on the direction coming from the education office. Similarly, teachers are supposed to improve student achievement by 10% from the previous year.

The evidence from the schools' development plans also indicate that low performing schools determine areas of need for teacher professional development through discussions with teachers on the overall problems influencing student learning and achievement. For example, in School 5 "twenty nine" potential areas or 'problems' were suggested, of which the school selected nine of them with a simple criteria whether the issue is related with professional development or not. Concerning the use of data for shaping *teacher professional development*, none of the respondents explicitly mentioned how data were used to identify the knowledge and skills gap of teachers, and plan for intervention. Hence, the possibility of schools to address the special professional learning needs of teachers on the basis of data and tackle emerging and trending issues in teaching and learning process would be greatly reduced.

Regarding data use for *supporting conversation with students, teachers, parents and school leaders*, continuous assessment and final examination results were commonly often used to initiate discussion during professional development, department and school level meetings. However, the discussions with parents were often dominated by issues of raising funds, student attendance and discipline (School 5 development plan and financial report). Explaining the benefits of data for initiating discussions among teachers, a principal from School 5 states that:

In department meeting teachers discuss the practice of continuous assessment, peer-led learning, usage of instructional materials, etc. They compare their own performance with others, and share experiences to scale up best experiences.

Also, a teacher from School 8 mentioned how student assessment data were used for reflecting on teachers' own teaching practice in department level meetings. A teacher reported that:

I administer tests to measure students' performance and report the result every month to department coordinator. At department we discuss on analyzes of average student performance and on the strengths and weaknesses, and possible solutions for improvement. The analysis also compares performance of students' in terms of gender.

The responses indicated that schools collect different data (e.g. student achievement score) to prepare their school development. The participation of stakeholders (mainly teachers and students) was described in terms of providing information and filling out questionnaires to generate data for school development planning – setting priorities, goals and targets. Even though a lot of data were collected and made available, schools' autonomy to identify development needs and set goals and targets on the basis of the data was reduced as they were required to adopt nationally set student achievement targets. Also, the possibility of schools to contextualize school development planning in a way that explains their internal capacity will be affected. Low performing schools were also experience more similarity in using data for supporting conversation with students, teachers, parents, and the school administration. While the discussion with teachers and school administration often centers on achievement results, their conversation with parents were mainly focus on student attendance and disciplinary issues.

4.2.2.3. Cross-case analysis: data use for school development in high and low performing schools

The respondents in high performing schools almost unanimously indicated that school development planning was participatory in nature. However, the way participation was described differs across schools. While in some schools teachers participate in data collection and analysis (School 1), others explain participation in terms of discussions to determine professional development needs (School 2). The nature and characteristics of data collected and used to identify priorities, goals and targets also vary, where School 1 used more data to set baseline, actual and target achievement goals than School 2. Moreover, high performing schools displayed difference when using data for shaping teacher professional development. Data on student achievement, classroom observation and instructional planning were used to identify professional development needs and for intervention planning. A slight resemblance however was shown on data use for supporting conversation often in the form of department level evaluative meetings and professional development sessions. High performing schools were exhibit more differences than similarities in using data for school development purposes, where School 1 appeared to use data more constructively than School 2.

Low performing schools also participate stakeholders in development planning process. Stakeholders provide information during discussions and survey questionnaires for the schools to determine priority areas and set goals and targets. However, the data were not sufficiently used as schools were required to adopt targets set by the *Woreda* (district) Education Office which determines the goals based on nationally set standards. Lastly, low performing schools used data (e.g. student achievement, attendance, and discipline) for supporting conversation with stakeholders during department based weekly evaluative meetings and professional development sessions, where teachers often reflect on their own teaching practice and share experiences.

Several instances of data use for school development purposes have been raised both in high and low performing schools. Respondents reported data use for identifying professional development needs, setting goals and targets, shaping professional development and initiating conversation with stakeholders. However, these aspects of data use were less distributed among schools; high performing schools appeared to be more diverse than low performing schools which displayed more similarity between themselves. When comparing high and low performing schools, the high performing schools (particularly School 1) were generally better in using data for school development purposes.

4.2.3. Data use for instructional improvement in high and low performing schools

On data use for instructional improvement the respondents were asked to explain how and what data they use to monitor student progress, make instructional changes (e.g. differential instruction) and provide feedback for students to encourage self-directed learning. Below, within-case analysis of data

use for instruction in high and low performing schools was conducted followed by a cross-case examination between them.

4.2.3.1. Within-case analysis: data use for instructional improvement in high performing schools

Interview responses of teachers, principals and PD facilitators from high performing schools indicated that a wide range of academic, socio-economic, behavioral and psychological data were used to monitor student progress, make instructional changes for certain groups of students who need special learning support, and encourage students to regulate their own learning. Data were also used to provide additional academic and psychological support for low achieving students. For example, teachers train students on study techniques and strategies. A principal from School 1 reported that:

Achievement scores disaggregated by subject, grade, gender, national exam, school based exam, socioeconomic background like students from the community and scholarship were used to differentiate students into achievement levels and to provide support for low achievers. Analyses students' exam cheating behavior, teachers' satisfaction on students' progress and achievement also used to inform additional academic and psychological support.

Regardless of the amount of data available, teachers in some high performing schools mainly rely on aggregated student achievement scores – continuous assessment and final examination results – to make instructional decisions. When asked about which data the school uses for making instructional changes and monitor students' progress in learning, a teacher from School 2 stated that:

.....continuous assessment results makes at least 60% of student assessment results, and the rest will be final examination. Using the continuous assessment result, I also monitor the functioning of peer-led team learning groups and categorize students into three groups: high achievers, average achievers and low achievers. Then, I often provide additional tutorial classes for low achieving students.

Although the responses show considerable degree of variations in type and characteristics of data available, there seems to be a general pattern across the high performing schools that continuous assessment data provide teachers timely information about students' progress that they can use to plan additional learning support for low achieving students. Explaining how teachers should use data to monitor student progress in learning, a PD facilitator from School 2 stated that:

Teachers should have a portfolio that contains student continuous assessment scores, participation in classroom activities, and behavior. Then, teachers can easily monitor student learning and identify their problems as early as possible.

The responses indicated the use of data for making instructional changes to address special learning needs of certain groups of students (e.g. low achievers) through differential instruction. However, it was not clear what differential instruction means, because the tendency to equate differential instruction with after school tutorial classes seemed to be dominant inmost responses. High performing schools show differences in the type and ways of using data for monitoring student learning to make instructional changes. For example, as an indicative of using multiple types of data to address the learning needs of students through differential instruction, School 1 in its development plan include goals related to assessment methods, nature of feedback, additional learning time devoted to low achieving students. These include: "the number of assessment methods per subject to assess student learning will be at least 12 by the end of the year", "percentage of consistency, frequency and quality of feedback given by teachers per subject will be 100%", "percentage of students who get extra teaching support...will be 9.3%", and "average number of hours per semester each teacher spends providing extra teaching support...will be 32 hours". However, in School 2, the indicators of practice were not explicit enough to show which kinds of data can be used for planning additional learning support for students.

Data were also reported be used for *encouraging students to monitor their own learning* and develop self-directed learning competence. This was mentioned only by respondents from School 1, the principal states that:
Recently, we have organized student meta-cognitive skill training based on the data collected during student hearing session that show some level of stress going on among students as they were preparing for the national exam.

The PD facilitator also explains how data can be used to make students accountable for their own learning when they participate in setting goals. Setting goals make students responsible to monitor their own learning and motivates them towards higher achievement. He stated that:

Students are encouraged to set achievement goals every semester based on their previous achievement as a bench mark. For example, a student who achieved 85% in math might plan to reach 90% in the current academic year. They also state what they can do by themselves and what they expect from teachers and parents.

The responses indicated that there are distinctions within high performing schools regarding data use for instructional improvement purposes. For example, both School 1 and School 2 reported that they use data to group students into different achievement levels and provide additional learning support for low achieving students. But, the types of data and the way they use these data differ. School 1 collects and analyzes a lot of academic, socio-economic, and psychological data disaggregated with different student characteristics while School 2 uses mostly aggregated continuous assessment and final examination results. School 1 had also advantage over School 2 in using data to encourage students' self-directed learning competence by monitoring their own learning.

4.2.3.2. Within-case analysis: data use for instructional improvement in low performing schools

Various kinds of data are also available in low performing schools which they can use for instructional improvement purposes. For example, a principal from School 8 reported that student achievement data, teachers' and the school management minutes are used to monitor student progress, identify their learning problems and take corrective measures, such as tutorial support. Indicating multiple ways that schools can use assessment data for making instructional decisions, the principal stated that:

Achievement data are mainly used to improve student learning. For example, semester based analysis of student achievement score is used to identify strengths and weaknesses and make corrective measures on planning, monthly analysis of continuous assessment scores is used to monitor how well students are learning, and provide additional support.

However, there seems to be more reliance on assessment results as the basis to "identify strengths and weaknesses in student learning" and create additional learning opportunity for low achieving students. Continuous assessment was mentioned as a basis for implementing peer-assisted learning in the classroom, where students with better academic performance lead groups of five other students with different achievement levels. As a result strong leverage is placed on continuous assessment of student achievement as it allows teachers to identify students based on their achievement and organize them into teams. A teacher from School 8 explains this as follows:

I administer continuous assessment tests to identify students as low, average, and high achievers; provide tutorials for the low achievers; and organize them into peer-led learning groups. A student with good achievement coordinates five other students who have different achievement levels.

Data use for instructional improvement in low performing schools mainly centers around the use of continuous assessment results to classify students into different achievement levels to provide additional tutorial support for low achieving ones. Moreover, the continuous assessment data were used to assign students into different peer-led team learning groups. There was no mention of using data to encourage students monitor their own learning so that they develop self-directed competence. On the whole, low performing schools appears to resemble in their use of data for instructional improvement purposes.

4.2.3.3. Cross-case analysis: data use for instructional improvement in high and low performing schools

A cross-case examination of data use for instructional improvement between high and low performing schools indicated both similarities and differences. In both cases, schools used data to group students into different achievement levels as low, average and high achievers based on continuous assessment and final examination results. The continuous assessment data were also used to form peer-assisted learning groups which are considered in most schools as a pedagogical response to improve the achievement levels of low achieving students. However, there are aspects of data use on which high performing schools (School 1) had advantage over low performing schools. For example, while continuous assessment data remain to be an important source of information for making instructional change, the nature and characteristics of data and the way it was used differ. The data in School 1 were relatively better disaggregated and encompass a wider range of data types. Using data to improve students' self-directed learning competence was also an addition.

4.3. Factors affecting data use in primary schools

Regarding the factors influencing data use, multiple regression analysis was calculated to determine the extent to which data characteristics, user characteristics and school organizational characteristics influence data use for accountability, school development and instructional improvement purposes. Preliminary analysis were performed to ensure the fulfillment of the assumptions of multicolinearity, homoscedasticity, independent errors (Field, 2009). Table 9 shows the results of the regression analysis regarding the variables influencing data use for accountability, school development and instructional improvement.

The regression model was run three times to determine the influence of the predictor variables. The first was the analysis with data use for accountability as dependent variable and data characteristics, user characteristics, and school organizational characteristics as independent variables, where overall model was found significant to predict the outcome variable ($R^2 = .60$, F=115.318, p<.001). The results also show that although all the factors positively influence data use for accountability, only school organizational characteristics were found to have a significant and strong influence (b=.707, SE=.070, p<.001).

Second, the regression analysis with data use for school development purpose as a dependent variable and data characteristics, user characteristics, and school organizational characteristics as independent variables was conducted, where overall model was found significant to predict the outcome variable (R2 = .582, F = 107.202, p<.001). The regression result also reveal that data use for school development was significantly and strongly influenced by data characteristics (b = .119, SE = .070, p<.05), user characteristics (b = .246, SE = .066, p<.001), and school organizational characteristics (b = .508, SE = .066, p<.001).

Lastly, the regression model with data use for instructional improvement as a dependent variable and data, user, and school organizational characteristics as predictor variables was run, where overall model was found significant to predict the outcome variable (R2 = .144, F = 12.988, p<.001). The result shows that although the predictor variables positively influence data use for instructional development, only data characteristics (b = .191, SE = .147, p<.05) and school organizational characteristics (b = .179, SE = .138, p<.05) displayed significant influence. The predictor variables (factors) accounted for 60% of the variance in data use for accountability, 58.2% in data use for school development, and 14.4% in data use for instructional improvement.

Table 9. Results of multiple regression analysis, factors influencing data use.

Variables	Accountability	Development	Instruction
	B(SE)	B(SE)	B(SE)
Data characteristics	.053 (.075)	$.119(.070)^{*}$.191 (.147)*
User characteristics	.055 (.070)	.246 (.066)**	.067 (.138)
School organization	$.707 (.070)^{**}$.508 (.066)**	.179 (.138)*
R	.774	.763	.380
R Square	.600	.582	.144
Adjusted R Square	.594	.577	.133
df	3, 231	3, 231	3, 231
F	115.318	107.202	12.988

** Regression is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

* Regression is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

In a qualitative interview, teachers, principals and professional development facilitators were asked to identify factors that enable and hinder data use and describe how they affect data use in schools. They mentioned a range of school organizational, user and data related factors influencing data use, and their responses are presented below.

4.3.1. School organizational factors that enable and hinder data use in high and low performing schools

On school organizational factors that can enable and hinder data use, the respondents mentioned the culture of data use (including the norms and values), workload and shortage of time, availability of resources such as computers, and leadership and support system.

4.3.1.1. Within-case analysis: school organizational factors in high performing schools

The respondents dominantly mentioned school organizational factors to influence data use. The factors include the culture of data use, workload and availability of time to work with data, and availability of resources and a support system. Although these factors were mentioned by most of the respondents the way they were reported to affect data use was generally different. For example, a PD facilitator from School 1 indicated that *absence of designated time* to work with data is because of lack of professional development opportunities on data use, rather than workload. Attempts to share experiences obtained from previous training opportunities on data use were limited, and makes it less widespread in schools. However, workload and availability of time affect data use differently in School 2 where the respondents mentioned lack of time to work with data was mainly caused by high workload. A teacher from School 2 stated that:

It is hard because teachers are required to teach up to 24 periods per week [1 period is 50 minutes], perform continuous assessment of students, coordinate co-curricular activities, participate in professional development, and report all these...

A principal from School 2 also reported how lack of time and unplanned seasonal activities hinders him and the staff in general to work on innovative ways of teaching, such as data based decision making. He reported that:

Sometimes we are occupied with seasonal activities coming from the education office. For example, we have to be able to make grade 1 students master reading, writing, basic arithmetic until December 30. It is difficult to stick to the schedule of the school.

Availability of resources such as computers and the *support* provided by the school 'data gathering team' was also reported to affect data use positively. However, schools vary in the extent to which they provide sufficient number of computers for teachers to record and manage student data. Insufficient access to computers prevents teachers from improving their knowledge and skills to summarize and interpret student data. In addition, the lack of designated time for support and the

temporary nature of the data gathering team (mostly organized annually and has adhoc character) reduce the chance of getting a structured and sustainable support system. A principal from School 1 stated that:

The data gathering team that includes ICT and mathematics teachers distributes questionnaires to teachers and students to gather information on the teaching, learning, assessment and other issues. Also, collects continuous assessment and final examination results from teachers at the end of the semester. Registered and organized in a computer file, the data will be available for teachers to use.

Schools have a record office charged with collecting, organizing, analyzing and interpreting various kinds of educational data related to students and teachers. Current activities however are very limited and are not more than collecting and storing student assessment, examination, and attendance rosters, and teachers and staff profiles. A principal from School 1 reported that:

Actually the record personnel are supposed to carry out data management and analysis. But that is not the case. They do not have training in statistics, or data management. So, what the record office does is not more than keeping manually recoded data, [such as teachers' profiles].

The *culture of using data* in general and in teachers' day to day practice particularly was mentioned as an important factor that hinders data use in schools. The respondents indicated that the value given to data may be contributing to its use. Although some degree of variation in the extent to attribute culture of data use was observed where School 1 stands out better than School 2, the response of a principal from School 1 seems to capture the situation in most of the schools. He reported that:

The first, and probably a difficult problem is the culture of using data. Often teachers assess students, score exams, aggregate overall achievement scores, announce grades and submit the scores to the school. The same thing happens year after year [almost as a ritual]. So, breaking this culture was really difficult. Initially teachers were required to analyze student achievement scores for the subject they teach but now staffs trained in SPSS are in charge of the analysis. In general, the value for analyzing data is quite low.

Several school organizational factors were identified to influence data use, including culture of data use, workload and availability of time to work with data, resources and support system. These factors however influence data use differently. For example, in School 1 absence of designated time to work with data was mainly because of lack of professional development opportunities on data use, rather than workload. But in School 2 the main reason for limited amount of data use was lack of time due to high work load and unplanned seasonal activities. The other factor was availability of resources (e.g. computers) and support given by the school data gathering team which influence data use in School 1 positively though the support was not structured and systematic. In School 2 however these factors influenced data use negatively as teachers were not able to get sufficient computers to summarize and register student data. Lastly, the culture of data use also mentioned as a factor to influence data use mostly in a negative way because data and data use were not understood beyond a ritual of assessing, scoring, and aggregating of student results.

4.3.1.2. Within-case analysis: school organizational factors in low performing schools

School organizational factors were mentioned to influence data use often in a negative way. For example, a teacher from School 8 explains the reason why she was not using data other than student assessment results for grouping students into different achievement levels and assigning them into different peer-led team learning groups. High teaching load and other school activities were reported as reasons for the *lack of time* to work on data. The opportunity of working with data often in the form of professional development activities was also not available in schools. She stated that:

There is high teaching load. For example, in this semester I teach 27 periods per week. Moreover, there are other school activities, such as professional development, coordinating co-curricular activities, and scoring of exam papers.

Concerning the *availability of resources*, all of the respondents mentioned mainly the lack of computers as a reason for not using data to the required level. As such, the schools data management system was based on manual registration of assessment results, attendance, dropout and repetition on data recording books which makes the process very tiresome and less easy for use.

The respondents were also asked to explain about the *availability and extent of support* in data use within their schools. All of them mentioned that there is a record office in schools however most of the time what this section does is collecting summarized attendance records, assessment rosters at the end of the semester or year, and documenting in and out going letters. The response of a principal from School 5 when asked to explain the role of the school record officer may capture the situation. He reported that:

The school record office collects and keeps student achievement cards and rosters, attendance sheets, and teachers and other staff personal profiles, and letters. Also prepare profiles for newly registered or transferred students and staffs.

Multiple school organizational factors influence data use in low performing schools, mostly in a negative way. High teaching load, lack of professional development opportunities on data use and other school based activities (e.g. co-curricular activities) were the reasons for the lack of time to work with data. Moreover, the extent of availability of resources and support systems were also influencing data use in a way teachers were not able to use computers sufficiently due to lack of these resources. There were no professional development opportunities and support for the staff concerning data use. More importantly, the way these factors affect data use in low performing schools (Schools 5 and 8) seemed to be more or less similar.

4.3.1.3. Cross-case analysis: school organizational factors in high and low performing schools

Several school organizational factors influence data use within high performing schools, but differently in different schools. For example, in School 1, lack of designated time on data use was mentioned due to lack of professional development opportunities. Whereas in School 2, the main reason for limited amount of data use was related to lack of time due to workload and unplanned seasonal activities. The relative availability of resources (e.g. computers) and support provided by data gathering team (making data available for users) positively influence data use in school 1 though the support was not structured and systematic. However, these factors influenced data use in School 2 negatively as teachers were not able to sufficiently get computers to register and summarize student data. Lastly, the culture of data use influence schools' use of data mostly in a negative way because data and data use seemed to be understood little beyond a ritual of assessing, scoring, and aggregating of student results.

Similarly, multiple school organizational factors influence data use in low performing schools, but mostly in a negative way. High teaching load and other school based activities, such as co-curricular activities were the reasons for the lack of time to work with data. Moreover, lack of resources and support systems influence data use negatively. There were no professional development opportunities and designated time to support the staff on data use. More importantly, the way these factors affect data use in low performing schools (Schools 5 and 8) seemed to be more or less similar.

4.3.2. Data user related factors that enable and hinder data use in high and low performing schools

Data user related factors had surfaced in the interview responses of respondents, both in high and low performing schools. These include attitude and awareness about data use and knowledge and skills on how to work with data, including the skill of data collection, analysis and interpretation. A separate within-case analysis of the user related factors is followed by a cross-case comparison between high and low performing schools.

4.3.2.1. Within-case analysis: data user related factors in high performing schools

The respondents identified factors related to the characteristics of the user that influence data use in high performing schools. They mentioned knowledge and skills, and attitude and awareness to influence data use differently, where respondents from School1 generally perceive them positively. For example, a principal from School 1 says that "the school management has got training on educational management information system and some statistical software packages, such as SPSS". Moreover, "trend analysis of student achievement in subject, grade level, gender, national exam, school based exam, socio-economic status, such as students from the community and orphanage" also reported to change the quality of the school's development planning.

However, sharing knowledge and skills through professional development seem to be more important as some respondents were calling for refresher training. For example, a PD facilitator from School 1 says although ICT experts assist teachers whenever they want to do with computers, "refresher courses are necessary to activate teachers' knowledge about using data in a systematic manner, and refine their skills of using computer applications" because "there are also skill gaps. The skill to effectively and efficiently use computer applications like MS-Word, MS-Excel is low". Hence, knowledge and skills on data influence its use mostly in a negative way.

Attitude and awareness towards data use, that teachers should base their decisions to improve student learning on data and complying with the requirements by reporting to the school, was also mentioned by respondents. Schools however seemed to vary in their assessment of attitude and awareness as a factor influencing data use. While the respondents from School 1 mentioned attitude as an enabling factor by referring to the generally favorable attitude among the school staff, the respondents in School 2 consider attitude as a hindering factor for data use. For example, in School 2 a PD facilitator says that teachers often complain about workload and are "less willing to record and report data" because they consider it as an extra job.

4.3.2.2. Within-case analysis: data user related factors in low performing schools

The respondents from low performing schools also label the factors in the same way where knowledge and skills was reported to facilitate data use whereas attitude hinders data use. Teachers and PD facilitators indicated that many teachers have received training on basic computer applications. Also, some teachers mentioned their participation in a one-day orientation and experience sharing program about the benefits of recording data. However, the lack of resources and support system and workload decreases their practical engagement in working with data.

The other user characteristic to affect data use is attitude and awareness towards data and data use. All of the respondents mentioned attitude as a factor that hinders data use in schools. Principals and PD facilitators recognized teachers' workload for less engagement on data use, but according to a principal from School 5 "what matters most is teachers' willingness and commitment" to the expectation of the school. Teachers' attitude towards data use was also shaped by the organization and management of the classroom where (self-contained) teachers rarely refer to previous achievement of students who had been taught by other teachers. A teacher from School 8 stated that:

I didn't get much difficulty to know my students as I taught them from grade 1 to grade 3. However, at grade 4, I get additional students who have been taught by other teachers; and I couldn't get them sometimes comparable with mine. It takes me quite some time to decide how much they can progress.

Teachers' hesitation to use data was also shaped by their attitude towards the quality of data available in schools. Asked to explain the reasons why he was not using previous student achievement data, a teacher and PD facilitator from School 8 reported that:

I prefer to base decisions on my own current test results, because I don't know how they (students) have been taught before. Teachers may vary in handling peer-led learning groups and continuous assessment tests; some use assessment criteria strictly while others do not.

4.3.2.3. Cross-case analysis: data user related factors in high and low performing schools

User related factors mentioned by respondents include knowledge and skills, attitude and awareness towards data use. These factors however influence data use differently in high and low performing schools. The responses indicated that knowledge and skills was perceived as an enabling factor because the school make computers available and provide basic computer training for the staff (School 1). High performing schools assess the influence of user related factors differently in that attitude and awareness towards data influence its usage negatively (School 2). The intermittent character of support program and inadequate professional development opportunity on data use appear to reduce its widespread impact. Low performing schools show similarity in their perception of user related factors for data use. They (mostly teachers) reported knowledge and skills facilitate data use, but the lack of resources and support system limit them from using it. On the other hand, attitude and awareness towards data use were mentioned as factors negatively influence data use. Hence, the responses suggest more uniformity among low performing schools than high performing schools.

4.3.3. Data related factors that enable and hinder data use in high and low performing schools

Factors related to the characteristics of data were mentioned by respondents from high and low performing schools. These include availability of data, accessibility of data, and accuracy and quality of data. Below, a separate within-case analysis of how these factors influence data use in high and low performing schools is presented followed by a cross-case examination.

4.3.3.1. Within-case analysis: data related factors in high performing schools

The characteristics of data as a factor to affect data use has surfaced in the interview responses of respondents, but mentioned less frequently compared to others. For example in the high performing schools, mostly in School 1, the principals, teachers and PD facilitator mentioned availability, accessibility and quality of data as factors facilitating data use while there was no mention of such factors in School 2. A PD facilitator says that "the school data gathering team collects student assessment and examination data, record in EXCEL, and made it available for teachers to use". With regard to maintaining the quality of data, the principal mentioned the school's decision to use 'standardized exam' prepared by teachers who teach different sections. He also mentioned 'item bank' that the school collects all exam questions in order to maintain a balanced representation of different lesson topics and avoid repetition.

4.3.3.2. Within-case analysis: data related factors in low performing schools

Quality and availability of data were mentioned to influence data use in low performing schools. For example, according to a PD facilitator from School 5, data use may be influenced by lack of the required data often because teachers fail to record and report the data in a timely manner. She reported that:

When we need a certain type of data, the data may not be found in time. There are delays in reporting about student learning, assessment, and attendance regularly. Though they (teachers) should report every quarter, but that is not always the case.

As to the quality of data, respondents differ in their characterization of the factor. When asked to explain how previous student achievement data was used for planning instruction, a teacher from School 8 imply that the lack of standardization in student assessment produced less reliable student achievement data. Accessibility of previous student achievement data was also constrained by lack of digital recording and data management system. She reported that:

These students have been taught by different teachers, and were assessed differently from grade 1 to 3. When they come together at grade 4 you may not find them at different level. Even when you decide to trace their previous performance, it is not easy to get assessment results [due to manual data management system].

The characteristics of data influence data use in low performing schools mostly in a negative way. Availability of data hinders its use because of the delay of reporting data in time. The quality of data also influence data use negatively as the current practice of student assessment produced less reliable achievement score.

4.3.3.3. Cross-case analysis: data related factors in high and low performing schools

The characteristics of data as a factor to affect data use has surfaced in the interview responses of respondents, but mentioned less frequently compared to others. Availability, accessibility, and a relative quality of data were reported to influence data use positively (School 1), where data gathering team played an important role. To improve the quality of available data, school level 'standardized exams' and collection of exam questions in an 'item bank' were implemented. There was no mention of data related factors in School 2. On the other hand, data related factors influence data use negatively in low performing schools. The required data may not be available (Schools 5 and 8) due to delay of recording and reporting data. Lack of standardization in student assessment and examination was also another reason for the low quality of data. In sum, data related factors were perceived differently, where they are recognized as facilitators in high performing schools and hindrances in low performing schools.

CHAPTER FIVE

5. Discussion and conclusions

The major purpose of this study was to investigate how primary schools in Ethiopia use data for school improvement. Particularly the study aimed to assess commonly available and used data in schools and examine for what purpose data were used. Further, the study sought to identify enabling and hindering factors and describe how they affect data use in schools. As an exploratory study to understand the problem more comprehensively, diverse sources of data and methods were employed. Accordingly, teachers, principals, PD facilitators provided information for the study. Data were collected using questionnaires, interviews, and school documents, such as school development plan, and analyzed using both quantitative and qualitative approaches. In this section, the results presented in the previous chapter are discussed in light of the literature to draw conclusions and implications for research and practice.

5.1. Kinds of educational data in Ethiopian primary schools

The results indicate that both high and low performing schools had a wide range of input, process, context, and output data available. The kind of data available in most schools were more or less similar except for slight variation in terms of the extent of data availability or pattern of disaggregation, where high performing schools appear to have a bit more disaggregated process and context data than low performing schools. With regard to input and output data, they seemed to have more or less a balanced representation. However, certain types of data were only found in some schools (e.g. data on socio-economic status found only in School 1). The high stake accountability system constituted within decentralized educational reform (Coburn & Talbert, 2006), such as the school improvement program, could explain why there is high availability of data in schools. Most importantly, the data inventory has shown wider range of process data both in high and low performing schools which is consistent with previous studies (e.g. Hawa, 2014). Other studies however reported that output data were the most commonly available data in schools (Bernhardt, 2009). Wider availability of data however does not seem to necessarily ensure its utilization as very few type of data were recurrently reflected in the interview responses and highlighted in the schools' development documents. A similar finding was reported by Schildkamp, Karbautzki, & Vanhoof (2014) about data use in five European countries; there are country wise variations, where schools generally possess wide range of data though most of them narrowly focus on achievement data that might lead to narrow form of data use predominantly focusing on cognitive outcomes. When explaining how they use data in the school improvement process, the respondents mentioned a low amount (or few types) of data during the interview, suggesting the limited scope of data use. Of the different types of data, however, process data were reported to be the most available and used data followed by output data. Further, analysis of schools' development plan indicated that schools generally did not seem to be making more use of data except School 1 whose school development plan included some considerations for school self-assessment data and decisions from deliberations involving community members and parent-student-teachers associations. Although schools collect a lot of data evidence-based decision making in setting school priorities

5.2. The purpose of using data in primary schools

The results of this study also seemed to indicate that schools used data for accountability, school development and instructional improvement purposes. High performing schools scored slightly higher mean in all the three scales of the survey questionnaire than low performing schools, but it was not statistically significant. This means that although these schools are categorized differently in relation to their performance on school improvement by the Ministry's standards, there is no relation with their extent of data use according to this study.

The qualitative analysis of interview responses however showed mixed results. While the high and low performing schools displayed similarity on certain aspect of data use, they also differ on other aspects. The differences were even more pronounced within high performing schools than low performing schools often because of the kind of data available and the way it was reported to be used. For example, for accountability purpose, continuous assessment results, classroom observation data, provision of additional support for low achieving students were used to evaluate teachers' performance and communicate periodically with the school administration (School 1 and 5). Data were also used to motivate students and the staff by celebrating achievements and improvements which sustain best performance. Other schools (School 2 and 8) often based decisions on student achievement data, data on the provision of tutorial support, attendance, dropout and repetition data to evaluate teachers' performance. Further, data were also used to monitor progress in goal achievement and reporting to the school administration.

As the results suggest, schools' data use seemed to be dominated by accountability purposes. The main reason why data use focuses on accountability purposes could be the current policies of decentralized school reform nested within nationally set policy and accountability structure (Mitchell, 2014). For meeting accountability demands and complying with the regulation, schools have to periodically report their performances with data to the [*Woreda* (district) Education Office], parents and the school governing body (Schildkamp, Ehren, et al., 2012). The interview response of teachers for example indicated that teachers have to register students' continuous assessment and examination results, attendance and participation in classroom activities and peer-led learning groups and report to departments where they together with other teachers formatively evaluate their extent of performance against the expected level. Yet, schools still differ on certain aspects of data use for accountability, where the differences could be explained among other things with differential supervisory support provided by the *Woreda* (district) Education Office.

With regard to data use for school development purposes, the survey result indicated both high and low performing schools scored above average, and the differences between them were not significant to impact their data use practices. However, due to the kind of available data and the way data were reported to be utilized, some differences were observed within and between high and low performing schools. For example, in high performing schools teachers participate in data collection and analysis and used student achievement, classroom observation data and instructional plans to identify professional development needs and set priorities, goals and targets for planning interventions which to some extent corresponds to the findings of previous studies, such as Breiter& Light (2006) and Coburn & Talbert (2006). Often a five year retrospective trend analysis of student achievement data was performed to set baseline, actual, and target achievement goals disaggregated on different student characteristics (School 1). Nevertheless, there is no clear evidence that schools' use of data for school development purposes has followed an eight-step data team procedure (Schildkamp et al., 2013) that is a systematic and structured framework consisting of problem definition, formulating hypothesis, data collection, data quality check, data analysis, interpretation and conclusion. Interestingly, however, the reported data use practices missed several important steps of effective data use.

Another interesting finding related to data use for school development is the participation of stakeholders mainly teachers in identifying professional development needs. Participation was defined in its narrow sense that teachers discuss on overall challenges of teaching and learning process influencing student learning and achievement, and decide the contents of professional development (Schools 2, 5 and 8). However, the possibility of using data from 'critical' teacher discussions would be low given schools are required to adopt targets determined at the Education Office, which is difficult to align with the schools internal capacity for development (Hopkins, 2001). Moreover, while the extent of using schools' self-assessment and inspection data in identifying priorities along with critical teacher discussions was not clear, most of the priorities identified through teachers' discussions could risk "intuitiveness" (Schildkamp et al., 2013), and are most likely to be felt needs. To improve, a school should set its own targets and goals representing its potential for development, rather than dealing with externally imposed accountability driven goals. The current condition of data use might be linked to the fact that schools are so stretched to accomplish ambitious goals which

resulted in distributing their capacity into too many fronts where they will end up with unsatisfactory performance in their school improvement efforts.

Schools also show differing characteristics when using lesson plans, classroom observation data, student satisfaction and assessment results as well as teachers' performance evaluation to shape professional development. In some schools (e.g. School 1), the school leaders and PD facilitators fairly used disaggregated continuous assessment results, final examination results and teachers' performance evaluations to identify student learning problems and supporting teachers to implement differential instructional activities (Breiter & Light, 2006;Brunner et al., 2005). Whereas in most of the schools (Schools 2, 5, and 8) there was low level of data use probably because of the fact that data often used to determine the contents of professional development were collected in short lived teacher discussions which more often to be teachers' judgments and recent experiences that shape their thinking rather than evidence.

Concerning data use to support conversation, responses from high and low performing schools indicated more or less similar experiences. Schools predominantly used data on continuous assessment and final examination results and student attendance to start discussions with teachers, students, parents and school leaders (Breiter & Light, 2006;Brunner et al., 2005). However, the type of data and relative focus of the discussion differs with the type of stakeholder involved in the discussions. For example, teachers use achievement data, attendance and participation data and data on the functioning of peer-led team learning approach to reflect on their own teaching practice in department based evaluative meetings and professional development sessions, where they evaluate features that went well and that didn't go so well (Breiter & Light, 2006; Brunner et al., 2005; Young, 2006). The discussions with parents were often dominated by issues of raising funds, student attendance and discipline, where schools' financial reports, dropout and repetition data were mainly used.

Regarding data use for instruction, the survey result was not big enough between high and low performing schools. However, the case study findings indicated that there are some similarities as well as differences within and between them. In both cases, schools seemed to focus on continuous assessment and examination data to group students into different achievement levels as low, average and high achievers. The continuous assessment data were also used to assign students into peer-led team learning groups which are considered in most schools as a pedagogical response to improve the achievement levels of especially low achieving students. This narrow focus of data as assessment and examination results (Schildkamp et al., 2014) may be accounted for the level of data literacy in schools where data were not adequately and systematically collected, analyzed, interpreted and used to change teaching practice and improve student outcomes (Schildkamp et al., 2013). Or otherwise known as that the schools' data use experience can be described as conceptual data use in that teachers reported data use experiences could impact often indirectly via changing teachers' attitude about data and data use. Schools also differ on other aspects of data use for instruction, where high performing schools (particularly School 1) had advantage over low performing ones (Schools 5 and 8). For example, while continuous assessment and final examination data remain to be an important source of information for making instructional change, such as identifying students as low, average and high achievers, and assigning them into peer-led learning teams, the nature and characteristics of data and the way it was used differ. The data in School 1 were relatively better disaggregated and encompass a wider range of data types. Using data to improve students' self-directed learning competence was also an addition.

The results of this study in general seemed to indicate that schools' use of data for accountability and school development purposes override data use for instructional improvement. The focus seemed to be more on accountability as schools had to adopt district level targets set by the Education Office. As (Schildkamp et al., 2014) argued, while holding schools accountable for the education they provide is important, the main focus of data use should be on improvement of the school and student learning. According to them, data use can lead to sustainable improvement when data are used for

accountability, school development, and instructional improvement purposes simultaneously and with a balanced emphasis to each of the purposes of data use.

5.3. Factors affecting data use in primary schools

The results of this study further show that data use for accountability purpose is influenced by school organizational factors. The use of data for school development is influenced by data characteristics, user characteristics and school organizational characteristics. Also, the use of data for instructional improvement is influenced by data characteristics and school organizational characteristics. These factors however influence data use differently in high and low performing schools. School organizational characteristics influence all the three types of data use significantly, indicating the importance of this factor. In some high performing schools (School 2) and low performing schools (Schools 5 and 8) teachers perceive school organizational factors as barriers for data use. As the results suggest several accountability mandates placed on schools created enormous pressure and seemed to dilute the schools capacity for real improvement based on data. For example, schools are required to adopt externally set achievement targets in order to reach the global mandate of achieving universal access to primary education while maintaining its quality (MoE, 2010). The challenge therefore is that schools are required to improve student achievement in the absence of appropriate setup and opportunities for data use in one hand and continued demand to achieve national and international commitments. This seems to trap schools to deal with competing goals which are often contradictory to each other - complying with accountability demands of increasing access to education and improving its quality.

Other factors also include lack of leadership and support system for example in the form of professional development on data use, unplanned seasonal activities, high work load, and the culture of using data beyond the usual practice of assessing, scoring, aggregating and reporting of student achievement data. Previous studies (e.g. Schildkamp et al., 2014) however reported the positive influence of organizational factors such as teacher collaboration on data use, support by a data expert, and school leaders' encouragement and facilitation of data use. This could be explained by the focus on accountability system may vary in different educational systems with varying conceptions, speed and impact (Greaney & Kellaghan, 2008) which may create possibilities or barriers for data use. For example, the degree of centralization and decentralization across educational systems varies enormously, so does the meaning of accountability among stakeholders within an educational system itself (Harris, 2002). In developing countries, where this study is based, it is assumed that using disaggregated data related to the mandates of teachers and educational leaders can secure accountability in a decentralized educational system (Davison, Soboka, & Berkie, 2010) as accountability is seen as a mechanism to empower schools to collect data from their contexts, analyze and interpret data, and take the necessary actions based on data.

With regard to *user characteristics*, teachers' skills and knowledge (data literacy), and attitude and awareness towards data were recognized to influence data use in high and low performing schools. Teachers' reported skills and knowledge of using computers influenced data use positively (e.g. School 1) where the relative availability of resources and support provided (by a data gathering team) help high performing schools to show signs of improved data use. However, data literacy is something more than working with computers to record and summarize student achievement data. Rather, it requires the schools' decision on the appropriateness and usefulness of data for the purpose, the quality of data, and the correctness of data analysis and appropriateness of the interpretation (Schildkamp et al., 2013) also the pedagogical content knowledge to know what to change and improve based on the data (Young, 2006). The lack of resources and support system, workload and insufficient professional development opportunity on data use appear to reduce its widespread impact (Schools 1, 5 and 8).

Concerning attitude towards data use, the respondents reflected diverse views. The respondents generally tend to have positive attitude that data use can lead to improvement (Datnow et al., 2007; Schildkamp & Kuiper, 2010), but their practical engagement in some kind of data use practices was

limited. For example, teachers, mostly in low performing schools, hesitate about the reliability of previous student achievement data and this negatively influenced their use of data (Schools 2, 5, and 8). Several factors were mentioned for this, including inconsistent application of continuous assessment, lack of 'standardization of exams', and organization of the classroom where a self-contained classroom management at lower primary level obviously resulted in differences in maintaining standards. Furthermore, although schools possess a lot of self-assessment and inspection data, awareness on how these data can be used for school improvement planning process appear to be low. Whereas in high performing schools (School 1), attitude towards data was reported to influence data use positively, where for example, school staff participated in training programs on data analysis techniques. This difference could be related with other factors mainly with school organizational factors.

Data and data system characteristics significantly influenced data use for school development and instructional improvement purposes. However, it has surfaced in interview responses less frequent than others, and influence data use differently in high and low performing schools. Data and system characteristics includes a functioning data management system and access to reliable and timely data which is a precondition for effective data use (Breiter & Light, 2006; Schildkamp & Kuiper, 2010; Wayman & Stringfield, 2006), where schools with these data systems are more likely to show better data use practices than those that do not have. As such, in some high performing schools (School 1) the relative availability, accessibility, and quality of data influence data use positively, but there was no mention of these factors in School 2. Moreover, experiences such as administering school based 'standardized exams' and collecting exam questions in an 'item bank' as well as the role of data gathering team seemed to be contributing positively to get relatively reliable student achievement data to base decisions for improvement. On the contrary, low performing schools perceive data related factors to have influence in a negative way (Schools 5 and 8). Delay in recording and reporting student assessment and examination data and lack of standardization in student assessment were implicated from teachers and school leaders' responses.

On the whole, data use was influenced by data, user, and school organizational factors, where the later was influencing data use for accountability, school development, and instructional improvement purposes. The interview responses also show that most of the factors influencing data use were within the category of school organizational characteristics. However, these factors do not seem to be operating independently, rather the issues mentioned in one of the factors were either the cause or consequence for the other factor. Hence, these influencing factors are interrelated.

5.4. Unintended uses of data in primary schools

Instances of unintended data use were reflected during the interview, but very few. The first is abuse of student achievement data, which happens when teachers inflate student scores and compromise the authenticity of reported achievement scores in teacher made tests in order to meet the proportion of students who should score above 50% – the minimum proficiency benchmark set by the Ministry of Education. Schools are required to reduce dropout and repetition rates to open up space for newly enrolled students to achieve universal access to primary education. This large amount of accountability pressure and lack of support creates undesirable use of data (Schildkamp et al., 2013) which undermines the schools' opportunity for improvement and the data generated through this process does not reflect the actual performance of students and the schools (Ehren & Swanborn, 2012). Another example is copying school development plans from another school. For example School 2 and 5 had school development plans which in most of its parts include exactly the same contents and wording.

5.5. Conclusion

Data has received increasingly wider attention; and insight into how it is used in schools, its enablers and barriers becomes crucial. Despite efforts made to improve schools through a decentralized school development planning process, results remain largely unsatisfactory. As school improvement is a research based and problem solving process, it is necessary to investigate how schools use data for improving student learning, which factors explain data use and how. Literature from the existing knowledge base was reviewed to understand the relationship between the variables involved in using data for school improvement. Data were collected from a sample of schools using questionnaires, interviews and documents, systematically organized and used for analysis. Descriptive statistics and one-way ANOVA was calculated to compare schools categorized by the Ministry of Education as high and low performing schools in their use of data for accountability, school development and instructional improvement purposes. Finally, multiple regression analysis was computed to identify the factors influencing data use. Consistent with findings of the study, the following conclusions could be drawn from the results of this study:

- With regard to availability and use of educational data, the results indicated that both high and low performing schools have a wide range of input, process, context, and output data available. High performing schools are less similar than low performing schools in terms of the extent of availability and disaggregation of certain kinds of data. Process data were the most widely available data type in schools followed by input data. However, the availability of a large amount of data does not guarantee or seem to support actual use of data in schools. The respondents mentioned fewer types of data during interviews, most of which were process and output data, suggesting the limited scope of data use to impact school improvement efforts.
- Concerning the purpose of data use, respondents from high and low performing schools indicated their use of data for accountability, school development and instructional improvement purposes. The high performing schools stand out a little higher than low performing schools, but that was not significant to cause any meaningful difference. The case study however showed some form of data use (e.g. monitoring and evaluation, supporting conversation) in some high performing schools but generally lacks systematic and structured features, and missed several important steps of effective data use procedure.
- Several factors influence data use, but differently in high and low performing schools. For example, data use for accountability purpose is influenced by school organizational factors. Data use for school development is influenced by data, user and school organizational characteristics. Data use for instructional improvement is influenced by data, and school organizational characteristics. On the whole, school organizational characteristics predominantly influence data use moderated by data and user characteristics. However, the factors are interrelated to influence data use. Lastly, instances of unintended data use, such as abuse of data was observed due excessive and often contradictory accountability pressure on schools which mandates them to comply with competing goals of achieving universal educational access and maintaining its quality.

5.6. Recommendations and implications

The quantitative analysis indicates there are slight differences between high and low performing schools, but not significant enough to meaningfully influence data use. In the qualitative case study and document analysis however the perceptions in high performing schools were more varied than in low performing schools. Most schools appear to perceive a great need to improve schools using data, but a multitude of interconnected factors bar them from taking actions. The following recommendations and implications for policy and practice are, therefore, offered:

• Schools could be assisted to strengthen existing professional development program, and make it more structured and systematic (Schildkamp & Poortman, 2015; Schildkamp, Handelzalts, & Poortman, 2012). The results can be widespread through introducing instructional materials designed to promote effective data use (manuals, rubrics, etc.), alter culture of data use (challenging teachers' assumptions about data and data use), and application of innovative teaching methods that need to be verified with data. The professional development can be tailored to address contextual factors. Moreover, teachers' professional growth as a result of the intervention should be monitored, recorded and be subject to modification or rejection accordingly. To this end, leadership always remains to be important through presentations, demonstrations, modeling, and peer-coaching may be integrated with (Schildkamp &

Poortman, 2015). It can be extended to familiarize schools with educational data management practices that include systematic collection and storing of data, organizing data, analyze and interpret data.

- Effective school based leadership in terms of the role played by a school principal in the context of the school improvement process can motivate teachers to actively engage in effective data use for improved learning. Moreover, the result also implicate as to how preservice teacher education prepare teachers and school leaders with the knowledge and skills necessary for effective data use that can lead to school improvement (Mandinach, Friedman, & Gummer, 2015).
- Educational inspection processes could be made more responsive to the demands of the school improvement process by including aspects of the school improvement tradition, such as data-based decision making. Examining the discrimination validity and reliability of the instruments used to label schools as high and low performing schools is also implicated.

Moreover, the study aimed to scientifically contribute through understanding nature, characteristics and processes of data use in a developing country context where competing accountability mandates largely shape the policy context. Future research on the basis of the findings of the study can be implicated mainly from the limitations of the study. The first is methodological limitation related to using teachers' self-perception as a source of data which can risk favoritism when teachers tend to choose socially desirable responses. Therefore, intervention studies that involve observational methods could capture more valid and reliable data. The second could be related with the theoretical framework that is used in this study. As data use is a complex and iterative process that involves interpretive social processes, the influence of stakeholders in terms of the role they played in the school improvement process could give a more comprehensive understanding. Therefore, future research could focus on the role of these stakeholders in the schools' use of data in the context of increased accountability system where schools are operating within an environment of meeting competing goals.

REFERENCES

- Ahmed, A. Y., & Mihiretie, D. M. (2015). Primary school teachers and parents' views on automatic promotion practices and its implications for education quality. *International Journal of Educational Development*, 43, 90–99. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijedudev.2015.05.003
- Anderson, S., Leithwood, K., & Strauss, T. (2010). Leading Data Use in Schools: Organizational Conditions and Practices at the School and District Levels. Leadership and Policy in Schools (Vol. 9). http://doi.org/10.1080/15700761003731492
- Andrews, D., & Andrews, D. (2002). School Improvement for Whom? Educational change and development series. RoutledgeFalmer.
- Bernhardt, V. (2009). Data, Data Everywhere: Bringing All the Data Together for Continuous School Improvement (Vol. 20). Routledge.
- Breiter, A., & Light, D. (2006). Data for school improvement: Factors for designing effective information systems to support decision-making in schools. *Educational Technology and Society*, *9*(3), 206–217.
- Brunner, C., Fasca, C., Heinze, J., Honey, M., Light, D., Mardinach, E., & Wexler, D. (2005). Linking Data and Learning: The Grow Network Study. *Journal of Education for Students Placed at Risk* (*JESPAR*), *10*(3), 241–267. http://doi.org/10.1207/s15327671espr1003_2
- Carlson, D., Borman, G. D., & Robinson, M. (2011). A Multistate District-Level Cluster Randomized Trial of the Impact of Data-Driven Reform on Reading and Mathematics Achievement. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 33(3), 378–398. http://doi.org/10.3102/0162373711412765
- Coburn, C. E., & Talbert, J. E. (2006). Conceptions of Evidence Use in School Districts: Mapping the Terrain. *American Journal of Education*, *112*(4), 469–495. http://doi.org/10.1086/505056
- Coburn, C. E., & Turner, E. O. (2011). Research on Data Use: A Framework and Analysis. *Measurement: Interdisciplinary Research & Perspective*. http://doi.org/10.1080/15366367.2011.626729
- Cousins, J. B., Goh, S. C., & Clark, S. (2006). Data Use Leads to Data Valuing: Evaluative Inquiry for School Decision Making. *Leadership and Policy in Schools*. http://doi.org/10.1080/15700760500365468
- Cramer, E. D., Little, M. E., & McHatton, P. A. (2014). Demystifying the Data-Based Decision-Making Process. Action in Teacher Education, 36(5-6), 389–400. http://doi.org/10.1080/01626620.2014.977690
- Darling-Hammond, L., & Rustique-Forrester, E. (2005). The consequences of student testing for teaching and teacher quality. *Yearbook of the National Society for the Study of Education*, *104*(2), 289–319. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7984.2005.00034.x
- Datnow, A., Park, V., & Kennedy-Lewis, B. (2012). High school teachers' use of data to inform instruction. *Journal of Education for Students Placed at Risk (JESPAR)*, *17*(4), 247–265. http://doi.org/10.1080/10824669.2012.718944
- Datnow, A., Park, V., & Kennedy-Lewis, B. (2013). Affordances and constraints in the context of teacher collaboration for the purpose of data use. *Journal of Educational Administration*, *51*(3), 341–362. http://doi.org/10.1108/09578231311311500
- Datnow, A., Park, V., & Wohlstetter, P. (2007). Achieving with Data: How high-performing school systems use data to improve instruction for elementary students. Building. Los Angeles: Center on Educational Governance, Rossier School of Education, University of Southern California. Retrieved from http://www.newschools.org/viewpoints/AchievingWithData.pdf
- Davison, A. J., Soboka, B., & Berkie, B. (2010). *Ethiopia General Education Map Capacity Development Design Study*. Addis Ababa.
- Diamond, J. B., & Spillane, J. P. (2004). High-stakes accountability in urban elementary schools: Challenging or reproducing inequality. *Teachers College Record*. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9620.2004.00375.x
- Earl, L., & Fullan, M. (2003). Using Data in Leadership for Learning. Cambridge Journal of Education, 33(3), 383–394. http://doi.org/10.1080/0305764032000122023

- Ehren, M. C. M., & Swanborn, M. S. L. (2012). Strategic data use of schools in accountability systems. School Effectiveness and School Improvement. http://doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2011.652127
- Farley-Ripple, E. N., & Buttram, J. L. (2014). Developing collaborative data use through professional learning communities: Early lessons from Delaware. *Studies in Educational Evaluation*, 42, 41– 53. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.stueduc.2013.09.006
- Field, A. (2009). *Discovering statistics using SPSS*. SAGE Publications. Retrieved from http://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&btnG=Search&q=intitle:Discovering+statistics+using+ SPSS#0
- Greaney, V., & Kellaghan, T. (2008). Assessing national achievement levels in education (Vol. 1). Retrieved from

http://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=v9ex6CvPXfgC&oi=fnd&pg=PR5&dq=Assessi ng+National+Achievement+Levels+in+Education&ots=hAxBHSRrIQ&sig=Qqtn00wguP1Cuu LYgHC3O-mV-IA

- Hamilton, L., Halverson, R., Jackson, S. S., Mandinach, E., & Wayman, J. C. (2009). Using Student Achievement Data to Support Instructional Decision Making. Washington.
- Harris, A. (2002). School Improvement: What 's in it for Schools? London: RoutledgeFalmer.
- Hawa, N. M. (2014). Data-based decision making in improving education : An assessment of data use by secondary school teachers in Dodomo Region, Tanzania. Unpublished Masters' thesis. University of Twente, the Netherlands.
- Heritage, M., & Yeagley, R. (2005). Data use and school improvement: challenges and prospects. *Yearbook of the National Society for the Study of Education*, *104*(2), 320–339.
- Hopkins, D. (2001). *School improvement for real. Educational change and development series*. RoutledgeFalmer. http://doi.org/doi:10.4324/9780203165799
- Huffman, D., & Kalnin, J. (2003). Collaborative inquiry to make data-based decisions in schools. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 19(6), 569–580. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0742-051X(03)00054-4
- Ikemoto, G. S., & Marsh, J. a. (2007). Different conceptions of data-driven decision making. *Yearbook of the National Society for the Study of Education*, *106*(1), 105–132. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7984.2007.00099.x
- Ingram, D., Louis, K. S., & Schroeder, R. G. (2004). Accountability policies and teacher decision making: Barriers to the use of data to improve practice. *Teachers College Record*, 106(6), 1258– 1287. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9620.2004.00379.x
- Jimerson, J. B. (2014). Thinking about data: Exploring the development of mental models for "data use" among teachers and school leaders. *Studies in Educational Evaluation*, 42, 5–14. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.stueduc.2013.10.010
- Katz, S., & Dack, L. A. (2014). Towards a culture of inquiry for data use in schools: Breaking down professional learning barriers through intentional interruption. *Studies in Educational Evaluation*, 42, 35–40. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.stueduc.2013.10.006
- Kelly, A., & Downey, C. (2011). Professional attitudes to the use of pupil performance data in English secondary schools. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 22(4), 415–437. http://doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2011.600525
- Kerr, K. a., Marsh, J. a., Ikemoto, G. S., Darilek, H., & Barney, H. (2006). Strategies to Promote Data Use for Instructional Improvement: Actions, Outcomes, and Lessons from Three Urban Districts. *American Journal of Education*, 112(4), 496–520. http://doi.org/10.1086/505057
- Lachat, M. A., & Smith, S. (2005). Practices That Support Data Use in Urban High Schools. *Journal of Education for Students Placed at Risk (JESPAR)*, 10(3), 333–349. http://doi.org/10.1207/s15327671espr1003_7
- Lai, M. K., McNaughton, S., Timperley, H., & Hsiao, S. (2009). Sustaining continued acceleration in reading comprehension achievement following an intervention. *Educational Assessment, Evaluation and Accountability*, 21(1), 81–100. http://doi.org/10.1007/s11092-009-9071-5
- Lee, M., Seashore Louis, K., & Anderson, S. (2012). Local education authorities and student learning: the effects of policies and practices. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 23(2), 133– 158. http://doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2011.652125

Levin, J. a., & Datnow, A. (2012). The principal role in data-driven decision making: using case-study data to develop multi-mediator models of educational reform. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 23(2), 179–201. http://doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2011.599394

Little, J. W. (2012). Understanding Data Use Practice among Teachers: The Contribution of Micro-Process Studies. American Journal of Education, 118(2), 143–166. http://doi.org/10.1086/663271

Mandinach, E. B. (2012). A Perfect Time for Data Use: Using Data-Driven Decision Making to Inform Practice. *Educational Psychologist*, 47(2), 71–85. http://doi.org/10.1080/00461520.2012.667064

Mandinach, E. B., Friedman, J. M., & Gummer, E. S. (2015). How Can Schools of Education Help to Build Educators ' Capacity to Use Data ? A Systemic View of the Issue, *117*(4), 1–50.

McNaughton, S., Lai, M. K., & Hsiao, S. (2012). Testing the effectiveness of an intervention model based on data use: a replication series across clusters of schools. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 23(2), 203–228. http://doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2011.652126

Ministry of Education (MoE). (1994). Education and training policy. Addis Ababa.

Ministry of Education (MoE). (2000). Ethiopian baseline national learning assessment. Addis Ababa.

Ministry of Education (MoE). (2002). *Educational management, organization, community participation and financila manual*. Addis Ababa.

- Ministry of Education (MoE). (2004). *Ethiopian Second National Learning Assessment of Grade 8 Students*. Addis Ababa.
- Ministry of Education (MoE). (2008a). *Ethiopian Third National Learning Assessment of Grade 4 Students*. Addis Ababa.
- Ministry of Education (MoE). (2008b). *General Education Quality Improvement Package (GEQIP)*. Addis Ababa.

Ministry of Education (MoE). (2009). Continuous Professional Development for Primary and Secondary School Teachers, Leaders and Supervisors in Ethiopia. Framework. Addis Ababa.

Ministry of Education (MoE). (2010). *Education Sector Development Program IV (ESDP IV)*. Addis Ababa.

Ministry of Education (MoE). (2013a). *Education statistics annual abstract. Education management information system.* Addis Ababa.

Ministry of Education (MoE). (2013b). *Ethiopian fourth national learning assessment of grades 4 and* 8 students. Addis Ababa.

Ministry of Education (MoE). (2013c). *National framework for general education inspection*. Addis Ababa.

Ministry of Finance and Economic Development (MoFED). (2006). *Ethiopia : Building on Progress* A Plan for Accelerated and Sustained Development to End Poverty (PASDEP): (2005/'06-2009/'10), Volume I. Retrieved from

http://www.afdb.org/fileadmin/uploads/afdb/Documents/Policy-

Documents/Plan_for_Accelerated_and_Sustained_(PASDEP)_final_July_2007_Volume_I_3.pd f

- Mitchell, R. (2014). The implications of school improvement and school effectiveness research for primary school principals in Ethiopia. *Educational Review*, 67(3), 328–342. http://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2014.927829
- Piper, B. (2010). Ethiopia Early Grade Reading Assessment Data Analytic Report: Language and Early Learning.
- Sammons, P., Hillman, J., & Mortimore, P. (1995). *Key characteristics of effective schools: a review of school effectiveness research*. Institute of Education: Office for standards in education. London.
- Schildkamp, K., Ehren, M., & Lai, M. K. (2012). Editorial article for the special issue on data-based decision making around the world: from policy to practice to results. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 23(2), 123–131. http://doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2011.652122

Schildkamp, K., & Handelzalts, A. (2011). Collaborative data teams for school improvement. In *ICSEI* (pp. 1–16).

Schildkamp, K., Handelzalts, A., & Poortman, C. (2012). *Data teams for school improvement. Paper presented at AERA 2012, Working paper.* Vancouver, Canada.

- Schildkamp, K., Karbautzki, L., & Vanhoof, J. (2014). Exploring data use practices around Europe: Identifying enablers and barriers. *Studies in Educational Evaluation*, 42, 15–24. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.stueduc.2013.10.007
- Schildkamp, K., & Kuiper, W. (2010). Data-informed curriculum reform: Which data, what purposes, and promoting and hindering factors. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 26(3), 482–496. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2009.06.007
- Schildkamp, K., Lai, M. K., & Earl, L. (Eds.). (2013). Data-based decision making in education: challenges and opportunities. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Schildkamp, K., & Poortman, C. L. (2015). Factors Influencing the Functioon of Data Teams. *Teacher College Record*, *117*(4), 1–31.
- Schildkamp, K., Rekers-Mombarg, L. T. M., & Harms, T. J. (2012). Student group differences in examination results and utilization for policy and school development. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 23(2), 229–255. http://doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2011.652123
- Semela, T. (2014). Teacher preparation in Ethiopia: a critical analysis of reforms. *Cambridge Journal of Education*, 44(1), 113–145. http://doi.org/10.1080/0305764X.2013.860080
- Serbessa, D. D. (2006). Tension between traditional and modern teaching-learning approaches in Ethiopian primary schools. *Journal of International Cooperation in Education*, 9(1), 123–140.
- Shen, J., & Cooley, V. E. (2008). Critical issues in using data for decision-making. *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, 11(3), 319–329. http://doi.org/10.1080/13603120701721839
- Timmermans, A. C., Doolaard, S., & de Wolf, I. (2011). Conceptual and empirical differences among various value-added models for accountability. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 22(4), 393–413. http://doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2011.590704
- Timperley, H. S., & Phillips, G. (2003). Changing and sustaining teachers' expectations through professional development in literacy. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 19(6), 627–641. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0742-051X(03)00058-1
- UNESCO. (2000). *The Dakar Framework for Action. Education for all: meeting out collective commitments*. UNESCO, Paris. Retrieved from http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0012/001211/121147e.pdf
- UNESCO. (2002). Education for all: is the world on track? EFA Global Monitoring Report 2002. Paris.
- Vanhoof, J., Vanlommel, K., Thijs, S., & Vanderlocht, H. (2014). Data use by Flemish school principals: impact of attitude, self-efficacy and external expectations. *Educational Studies*, 40(1), 48–62. http://doi.org/10.1080/03055698.2013.830245
- Wayman, J. C. (2005). Involving Teachers in Data-Driven Decision Making: Using Computer Data Systems to Support Teacher Inquiry and Reflection. *Journal of Education for Students Placed at Risk (JESPAR)*, 10(3), 295–308. http://doi.org/10.1207/s15327671espr1003_5
- Wayman, J. C., Jimerson, J. B., & Cho, V. (2012). Organizational considerations in establishing the Data-Informed District. School Effectiveness and School Improvement, 23(2), 159–178. http://doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2011.652124
- Wayman, J. C., Midgley, S., & Stringfield, S. (2006). Leadership for data-based decision making: collaborative educator teams. New Models of Professional Development for Learner Centered Leadership, 189–206.
- Wayman, J. C., & Stringfield, S. (2005). Collaborative Teams to Support Data-Based Decision Making and Instructional Improvement, 1–8.
- Wayman, J. C., & Stringfield, S. (2006). Technology-Supported Involvement of Entire Faculties in Examination of Student Data for Instructional Improvement. *American Journal of Education*, 112(4), 549–571. http://doi.org/10.1086/505059
- Wiliam, D. (2010). Standardized testing and school accountability. *Educational Psychologist*, 45(2), 107–122. http://doi.org/10.1080/00461521003703060
- Wohlstetter, P., Datnow, A., & Park, V. (2008). Creating a system for data-driven decision-making: applying the principal-agent framework. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 19(3), 239–259. http://doi.org/10.1080/09243450802246376
- Young, V. M. (2006). Teachers' Use of Data: Loose Coupling, Agenda Setting, and Team Norms. *American Journal of Education*, 112(4), 521–548. http://doi.org/10.1086/505058

APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Survey questionnaire

ባህርዳርዩኒቨርሲቲ የትምህርትናስነ-ባህሪሳይንስፋኩልቲ የትምህርትናዕቅድናስራ*አመ*ራርትምህርትክፍል

በአንደኛደረጃመምህራንናር/መምህራንየሚሞላመጠይቅ

የጥናቱርዕስ፡በመረጃየታንዘውሳኔአሰጣጥለትምህርትቤትማሻሻል፤የመረጃአጠቃቀምዳሰሳበአንደኛደረጃትምህርትቤቶች

የጥናቱዓላማ፡የዚህመጠይቅዓላማየአንደኛደረጃመምህራንናር/መምህራንበመረጃየታንዘየትምህርትቤትማሻሻያአተንባበርየመረጃአጠቃ ቀምለመዳሰስየተዘጋጀነው፡፡በዚህመጠይቅውስጥበአስራአራትንዑስክፍሎችየቀረቡ 60 ጥያቄዎችተቀምጠዋል፡፡በእያንዳንዱንዑስክፍልለተዘረዘሩትጥያቄዎችከፊትለፈታቸውከተዘረዘሩትአማራጮችመካከልየእርስዎንሃሳብ የሚወክለውንይምረጡ፡፡

(Data) ማለትተማሪዎችን፣መምህራንንእንዲሁምትምህርትቤቱንየሚመለከቱናየተለያዩውሳኔዎችንለመወሰንጠቀሜታያለውማንኛውምኢንፎ ርሜሽንሊሆንይችላል፡፡ለምሳሌየተማሪዎችየምዘናውጤቶች፣የማጠቃለያፈተናውጤቶች፣ተማሪዎችንየሚመለከቱግላዊመረጃዎች(ፆታ ፣ዕድሜወዘተ)፣የትምህርትቤትሱፐሰርሸዥንመረጃ፣የተማሪቅበላዝውውርየለቀቁየደገሙተማሪዎችመረጃ፣የመምህራንሥራተኞችናተ ማሪዎችየስብሰባ,ቃለ-ጉናኢዎች፣የተማሪወላጆችማህበራዊእናኢኮነሚያዊሆኔታ፣የትምህርትቁሳቁሶችናግብአቶችወዘተሊሆንይችላል፡፡

Data in this Survey refers to "all the relevant information on students, schools, and teachers that the school's staffs use for decision making (Schildkamp, Ehren& Lai, 2012).

Examples of data: assessment results; final examination results; students demographic data; school inspection data; data on intake, transfer and school leavers; minutes of staff and students meetings; parents socio-economic status; data on available school resources etc.

- A. School name:___
- B. Number of years you spent in this school:

		በጣም አልስማጣም	አልስማማም	እስማማለሁ	በጣምእስማ ማለሁ
		1	2	3	4
1	መረጃየግግኘትሁኔታ (Accessibility of data)				
1.1	የተማሪዎችንመረጃበወረቀትም (ጽሁፍ) ሆነበሶፍትኮፒየማግኘትእድሎአለኝ፡፡				
1.2	<i>የተማሪዎችንመረጃበአን</i> ድፋይልውስጥተደራጅ <i>ቶማግኘት</i> እችላለሁ፡፡				
1.3	አስፈላጊየሆኦየተማሪዎችንመረጃከት/ቤቱየተለያዩየስራክፍሎችበቀላሎማግንትአችላ ለሁ፡፡				
1.4	በ3ሳምንት ጊዜውስጥ) ከተለያዩየትምህርትቤቱየስራክፍሎችአ <i>ገ</i> ኛለሁ፡፡				
1.5	በትምህርትዓመቱአ <i>ጋ</i> ማሽየሚመጡተማሪዎች (በዝውውርወይምበመልስቅበላ) መረጃከተለያዩክፍሎችበፍጥነትማግኘትእችላለሁ፡፡፡				
2	የመረጃው ጠቃሚኒት (Usability of data)	በጣም አልስ <i>ጣ</i> ማም	አልስ <i>ማማ</i> ም	እስማማለሁ	በጣምእስማ ማለሁ
		1	2	3	4
2.1	ተማሪዎችንበተመለከተየማነኘውመረጃየማስተምረውንትምህርትበአግባቡለማቀድና ለመዘጋጀትይረዳኛል፡፡				
2.2					
	ዮትንመሻሻል(determine academic growth) እንድለካያስችላል፡፡ የማስተምራቸውንተማሪዎቸበትምህርታቸውስለሚያሳዩትመሻሻልመረጃአለኝ፡፡				
2.3					
2.4	ስለማስተምራቸውተማሪዎችያለኝመረጃበጣምጥቂት(ውስን)ነው፡፡				

3	የመረጃጥራት (Quality of Data)	በጣም አልስ <i>ጣጣ</i> ም	አልስ <i>ግግ</i> ም	እስማማለሁ	በጣምእስማ ማለሁ
5		1	2	3	4
3.1	ስለማስተምራቸውተማሪዎችያለኝመረጃየቅርብጊዜ (ወቅታዊ) ነው።				
3.2	ከተለያዩምንጮች (ት/ቤቱ፣ ት/ጽ/ቤት፣ ት/ቢሮ፣ ት/ጧ ወዘተ) የማንኘውየተማሪዎቸመረጃተመሳሳይናትክክለኛነው፡፡፡				
4	የመረጃአଲቃቀምዕውቀት (Data literacy)	በጣም አልስ <i>ጣጣ</i> ም	አልስ <i>ማማ</i> ም ን	እስማማለሁ 2	በጣምእስማ ማለሁ
4.1	የማስተምረውትምህርትስለተማሪዎችከማንኘውመረጃአንፃርአስተካክላለሁ (እቃኛለሁ)፡፡	1	2	3	4
4.2	መረጃንበመጠቀምተማሪዎችያላቸውንየመማርፍላሎትእንድለይ(diagnosing learning needs) አግዞኛል፡፡				
4.3 4.4	የመረጃአጠቃቀምንበተመለከተየሚያስፈልጉየጥራትመለኪያዎችንናጽንሰሃሳቦችን(co rrelation, Validity, reliability)እረዳለሁ፡፡ የጥራትመለኪያዎችንመሥረትበማድረግየማገኛቸውንመረጃዎች(ለምሳሌየተማሪዎች				
1.5	<u>ንየፌተናውጤቶችናሪፖርቶች)እንኤትመተንተንናመረዳትእንዳለብኝአውቃለሁ፡፡</u> በግራፍየሚቀርብመረጃንበቀላሉመተንተንናመረዳትእችላለሁ፡፡፡				
4.5 5	የግሬዓትና የደግብው 2.4 እበየባለው የተጠው 2.4 የአጥለው ፡፡፡ አመለካከት (Attitude)	በጣም አልስ <i>ጣ</i> ማም	አልስማማም	እስማማለሁ	በጣምእስማ ማለሁ
		1	2	3	4
5.1	መረጃንመጠቀምየእያንዳንዱንተማሪየመማርፍላጐትለማወቅአስፈላኒነው። መረጃያመስታመርስ ያገለመሯሯል ነ እረሰዓ ነው።				
5.2 5.3	መረጃየማስተማርስራየንለማሻሻልአስፈላጊነው፡፡፡ የማስተማርስራብመረጃየታግዘሲሆን(የማስተማርስነ-ዘዴዎች፡ የትምህርትይዘትወዘተ) ተማሪዎችተጠቃሚይሆናሉ፡፡፡				
6	የትምህርትአመራር (Leadership)	በጣም አልስ <i>ጣጣ</i> ም	አልስ <i>ማማ</i> ም	እስማማለሁ	በጣምእስማ ማለሁ
6.1	መረጃንመጠቀምየውጤታማየመማርማስተማርተግባርለማካናወንዋነኛመሳሪያእንዲ ሆንየትምህርትቤታችንርዕስመምህርያበረታታል፡፡	1	2	3	4
6.2	የት/ቤታችን ር/መምህርመረጃንበአግባቡናበውጤታማነትጥቅምላይበማዋልበኩልጥሩምሳሌነው፡ ፡				
6.3	ዮት/ቤታችን ዮ/ቤታችን ር/መምህርመምህራንናስራተኞችመረጃንበአግባቡአንዲጠቀሙበትምቹሁኔታዎችንፈ ዮሯል (ለምሳሌበቂጊዜአንዲኖርማድረግ)፡፡				
-	የት/ቤታችን ር/መምህር፣ ም/ር/መምህርየት/ከፍልተጠሪዎችየደረሱበትንየመረጃትንተናውጤትከመምህራንና ሌሎችስራተኞችጋርይወያዩበታል፡፡				
	ከት/ክፍልተጠሪዬጋርበተማሪዎቸመረጃና፣ ትንተናእንዲሁምውጤትላይውይይትእናደርጋለን፡፡ ት/ቤታችንእያንዳንዱመምህርየመረጃትንተናከህሎቶቸምማሳደግእንዳለበትያውቃል፡፡				
6.6 7	የ.ጋራት በብር (Collaboration)	በጣም አልስ <i>ጣጣ</i> ም	አልስማማም	እስማማለሁ	በጣምእስማ ማለሁ
	· · ·	1	2	3	4
7.1	ተማሪዎቸየትምህርትውጤታቸውንእንዲያውቁከማድረግበተጨማሪውጤታቸውን በተመለከተአወያያቸዋለሁ፡፡ የተማሪዎችንየትምህርትውጤትወላጆችአንዲያውቁትከማድረግበተጨማሪበውጤቱ				
7.2	ላይውይይትአደርጋለሁ፡፡				
7.3	የተማሪዎችንየትምህርትውጤትበተመለከተከሌሎችመምህራንጋርመረጃእለዋወጣለ ሁ፤ ውይይትምአደርጋለሁ፡፡				
8	ራዕይ (Vision)	በጣም አልስ <i>ጣጣ</i> ም 1	አልስ <i>ጣጣ</i> ም 2	እስማማለሁ 3	በጣምእስማ ማለሁ 4
8.1	በውጤታማማስተማርምንነትላይበትምህርትቤታችንመምህራንዘንድየጋራስምምነት (መባባባት) አለ፡፡	-			
8.2 8.3	በውጤታማየተማሪዎችመማርምንነትላይበትምህርትቤታችንመምህራንዘንድየጋራስ ምምነት(መግባባት) አለ፡፡ በውጤታማየተማሪዎችየመማርሂደትየመንምንምዘጼምንነትላይበትምህርትቤታችን መምህራንዘንድየጋራስምምነት(መግባባት) አለ፡፡				
9	የመረጃአጠቃቀምልማዶችናአስራሮች (Norms of data use)	በጣም አልስ <i>ጣጣ</i> ም 1	አልስ <i>ማማ</i> ም 2	እስማማለው 3	በጣምእስማ ማለሁ 4
		I ▲	4	5	-

	(structured method) መረጃየመሰብሰብ፣ የመተንተንናየመተርኈምሂደትበተግባርአናውላለን፡፡				
10	እየተሰጠያለድጋፍ (Support)	በጣም አልስማማም	አልስማማም	እስማማለሁ	በጣምእስማ ማለሁ
10		1	2	3	4
10.1	መረጃንበውጤታማነትእንድጠቀምበት ት/ቤቱበቂየሆነድጋፍያደርግልኛል፡፡				
10.2	<i>መረጃን</i> በውጤታማነትእንድጠቀምበትእንዛሲያስፈልንኝድጋፍየሚያደርግልኝሰው				
	(የመረጃባለሙያ፣ መምህር፣ ር/መምህርወዘተ) በትምህርትቤታችንይገኛል፡፡				
10.3	የማስተማርስራየንበመረጃላይተመርኩዠእንዳሻሽልድጋፍናእንዛየሚያደርግልኝሰው				
	(የመረጃባለሙያ፣ የስራባልደረባ፣ መምህር፣ ር/መምህር) በት/ቤታችንይገኛል፡፡				
10.4	መረጃንበአግባቡአንድጠቀምበት ት/ቤቱበቂኒዜመድቦልኛል፡፡ ተጤያቂነትንለማረጋገጥመረጃንመጠቀም (Data use for accountability)	በጣም አልስ <i>ማጣ</i> ም	አልስማማም	እስማማለሁ	በጣምእስማ ማለሁ
		1	2	3	4
11.1	ት/ቤታችንታላፊነቱንበአግባቡመወጣቱንለማረ,ጋንጥየሚጠቀመውመረጃ ት/ቤቱአሁንያለበትንነባራዊሁኔታበትክክልየሚያሳይነው፡፡፡ (ለምሳሌለወላጆች፣ ለትምህርትሱፐርቫይዘሮችየሚያቀርበውሪፖርት)				
11.2	ትምህርትቤታዥንተግባራዊስለሚያደርገውየትምህርትቤትማሻሻያንሮግራምለትምህ ርትሱፐርቫይዘሮዥናኢንስፔክተሮዥመረጃእንስጣዥዋለን፡፡				
11.3	በት/ቤታትንየምንስበስበውመረጃአስፈላኒለሆኑተግባራትእንዲውልበተደራጀሁኔታእ ንዲቀመተይደርጋል፡፡				
	መረጃንለትምህርትቤትማሻሻያተግባርመጠቀም (Data use for School	በጣም አልስማማም	አልስ <i>ማማ</i> ም	እስማማለሁ	በጣምእስማ ማለሁ
12	Development)	1	2	3	4
	ከትምህርትቤቱው-ጭያሉአካላት (የወረዳትምህርት ጽ/ቤት) የሚያዘ <i>ጋ</i> ጃቸውንየግምንማውውጤቶች (የኢንስፔክሽንሪፖርት) ት/ቤታችንንለማሻሻልእንጠቀምበታለን፡፡				
12.2	የተማሪዎችየትምህርትውጤትየመምህራንንየማስተማርተማባርለመገምገምእንጠቀም ቢታለን፡፡				
12.3	ር/መምህራንትምህርትቤቱዖስቀመጣቸውንግበትእያሳካመሆኑንለመምህራንለማሳየት መረጃንበዋነኝነትይጠቀማሉ፡፡				
12.4	ዋልቅየሆነየመረጃትንተናዋነኛየትምህርትቤትማሻሻያተማባርአድርንንእንጠቀምበታለ ን፡፡				
12.5	ክ/ጊዜድልድልየተማሪዎችንየመማርፍላጐት(learning needs) መሥረትያደረንነው (ለምሳሌተማሪዎችዝቅተኛውጤትላንኙባቸውዋትምህርትዓይነቶችከፍያለጊዜይመደ ባል)፡፡				
	የተ [′] ማሪዎችንየፌተናውጤትየትምህርትቤትማሻሻያዕቅድንዓላማናየትኩረትነጥቦችንለ <i>መ</i> ለየትእንጠቀምበታለን።				
12.7	የተማሪዎዥየፈተናውጤትየመምህራንተኪታታይየሙያማሻሻያንበተመለከተውሳኔለ መስጠትይረዳል፡፡				
12.8	የተማሪዎዥየፌተናውጤትየስርዓተትምህርቱንክፍተቶዥለመለየትእንጠቀምቢታለን፡፡				
12.9	በትምህርትቤታችንውጤታማየማስተማርዘዴንለመለየትመረጃንእንደዋነኛመሳሪያ (ዘዴ) እንጠቀምበታለን፡፡				

13	መረጃንለመማርማስተማርተግባርመጠቀም(Data use for instruction)	ምንምአልጠ ቀምበትም	በዓመት1 ጊዜእጠቀ	በዓመት 2 ጊዜእጠቀ	በወር 1 ጊዜ እጠቀምበ		በሳምንት 2 ጊዜእጠ
			ምበታለሁ		ታለው	ምበታለሁ	2 ርመለጠ ቀምበታለ
	ከዚ ህበታ ችየተዘረዘሩትንተግባራትለማከናወንመረ <i>ሻን</i> ምንያህልጊዜት ጠቀምበታ ለ						ሁ
	บ/ณี/						
		1	2	3	4	5	6
13.1	እያንዳንዱንተማሪመሥረትያደረንየትምህርትዓላማለማስቀ መ ጥ						
13.2	<i>ተማሪዎች</i> በየትኞቹየትምህርትይዘቶችላይዕውቀትናክህሎትእንዳዳበሩወይምእንዳ ላዳበሩለመወሰን፡						
13.3	<i>ተማሪዎች</i> በአ <i>ግ</i> ባቡእየተማሩናየትምህርቱንዓላማእያሳኩመሆናቸውንናአለመሆ ናቸውንለማረ <i>ጋ</i> ንጥ፡						
13.4	የማስተምረውንትምህርትከእያንደንዱተማሪየመማርፍላኈትጋርለማጣጣም፡						
13.5	በክፍልውስጥየመማርማስተማርፍጥነቴንለመወሰን፡						
13.6	ለተማሪዎችስለትምህርትሂደታቸውግብረ - መልስለመስጠት፡						
13.7	ተማሪዎችንእንደየችሎታቸውበቡድንለማደራጀትናትምህርቱንለመስጠት (for targeted instruction)፡						
13.8	በክፍልውስጥየማስተምረውንይዘትለመለየት (ለመወሰን)፡						
13.9	ተማሪዎቸለምንየተወሰኑስህተቶቸንእንደሚፈፅሙለመለየት						
13.10	የማስተምረውንትምህርትልዩቸሎታያላቸውንተማሪዎቸመሥረትባደረነመልኩለ ማሻሻል:						
13.11	የማስተምረውንትምህርትየመማርፍャነታቸውዝቅተኛየሆኑተማሪዎችንመሥረት ባደረ <i>ገ</i> መልኩለማሻሻል፡						

Appendix B: Interview

Interview guideline for Teachers and School Leaders

I am working on a master thesis concerning the use of data, such as assessment results and selfevaluation results, for school improvement. I would like to ask you several questions concerning school improvement initiatives in your school and the use of data. When I talk about data, I mean all the information that is available on the functioning of the school, including assessment data, selfevaluation results and inspection report. The goal of my study is to find out various ways in which the school uses data. This interview will take approximately one hour. Before we start this interview, do you have any questions? Do you mind if I audiotape this interview? The results will be treated anonymously.

1. A) Could you tell me something about recent curriculum or school improvement initiatives in your school?

Let the respondent speak freely, but probe if the questions below are not addressed, and ask for examples and illustrations. Also, ask about the use of data to improve student outcomes.

- B) What is your role in these initiatives?
- C) Does the school use data in these initiatives? If yes, which data?
- D) By whom are these data being used?
- E) How are these data being used?
- F) For which purposes are these data being used?
- A) Which data do you use in your job?
 Let the respondent speak freely, but probe if the questions below are not addressed for each data source mentioned by the respondents. Ask for examples and illustrations.
 - B) How are these data being used?
 - C) How often do you use this type of data?
 - D) For which purposes are these data being used?
- 3. A) I brought a list of different types of data (note: this list will be different for each of the countries), which might be available in your school. Can you tell me if these data are indeed available, if you have access, and if you use these data sources? Some of the data sources may have already been addressed in question.

You can skip these data sources. For the other data sources, ask if the respondents uses these. If the respondent uses the data, ask how, how often and for which purposes, if the respondent does not use the data, ask why not. Also, ask for examples and illustrations of use.

- □ School Inspection reports
- □ Student progress reports
- □ Information in the annual school programme of events
- \Box Information on the annual policy plan of the school
- □ School self-evaluation result, including teacher and school leader questionnaires
- Data on intake, student transfer / turn over / school leavers
- □ Final examination results
- □ Assessment result
- □ Student demographic data
- □ Student questionnaires data
- □ Fee payment data
- □ Lesson plans
- □ Student and teacher daily attendance data

B) Did I miss certain data sources either you or your colleagues use? If yes, which ones? How do you use these data, how often, and for what purposes?

4. A) For what purpose do you use the data?

Let the respondent speak freely. If the respondent is not able to answer this question, you can give some hints by asking if he or she uses data for improving his teachings, group students, evaluate efforts, etc.

B) For what purpose do other teachers use data?

5. A) Do you receive any support in the collection, analysis, interpretation and/or use of data? If the respondent is not able to answer this question, you can give some hints by asking if the school board encourages the use of data, if data is discussed collectively in team meetings, if the respondent received any professional development in the use of data etc.

B) If yes, how and is this sufficient?

C) If no, do you want support? If yes, what type of support?

6. A) Are there any barriers in the school that prevent the use of data? *If the respondent is not able to answer this question, you can give some hints by asking if the respondent thinks he or she has the knowledge and skills needed to analyze data, of he or she has enough time to use data, and if the respondent has sufficient access to data.*

B) If yes, what barriers and how do these barriers prevent data use?

- C) Can you indicate whether or not you agree with the following statement and why?
- We have little money to use data effectively.
- I have little time to use data effectively.
- I don't have access to the all data I would like to use.
- We receive a lot of our data too late.
- A lot of data are not accurate.
- A lot of data are not relevant to my job.
- I don't think it is important to use data in my job.
- I need training in the use of data.
- We are capable of improving our school without the use of data.
- I encourage data use in my school.
- We collectively use data in this school.
- Our school has a clear vision and clear goals.
- We use data to check if we are reaching our goals.
- Our school has a data expert, which helps me in the use of data.
- I have the skills and knowledge needed to use data.

This was my last question. Thank you very much for your time. I am going to write a short report based on this interview. I will send this report to you for confirmation. Again, I want to stress that these results will be treated anonymously.

Appendix C: Results of Factor Analysis

Component Matrix^a of data use for Accountability

	Component
	1
Data that we collect in our school are documented (can be easily found/retrieved if needs	.866
arise)	
We provide data for our school improvement to our Inspectors	.844
The data we use for accountability purposes (eg. to give reports to parents, give to School	.840
inspectors) represent the reality at school	.040

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis.

a. 1 components extracted.

Component Matrix^a of data use for school development

	Component
	1
We use detailed data analyses as an essential part of improvement processes in my school	.800
School leaders use data to show teachers the extent to which the school is achieving its goals	.799
In my school we use data as a tool to determine effective teaching methods	.754
In my school we use student examination results to plan yearly goals and targets for school improvement	.750
Results of students are used to evaluate teacher's performance	.729
Student examination results are used to identify gaps in our curriculum in my school.	.689
In our school we use external evaluations (eg. from the School inspection) for our own improvement	.678
In my school student examination results lead to decisions with regard to professional development of teachers	.635
The division of teaching time in my school is based on identified learning needs of students	.524

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis.

a. 1 components extracted.

	Component
	1
adapt my teaching based on the needs of slow learners	.755
study why students make certain mistakes	.709
identify teaching and learning content to use in class	.705
make or adapt my teaching to individual students' needs	.703
set the speed of my lessons	.685
determine progress of students	.669
adapt my teaching based on the needs of gifted students	.666
determine which topics and skills students do and do not possess	.651
give students feedback on their learning process	.597
set learning goals for individual students	.558
form small groups of students for targeted teaching and learning	.509

Component Matrix^a of data use for instructional improvement

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis.

Data characteristics

	Component
	1
I have access to relevant data on my students from various offices in my school	.778
I can find all the data on my students in one file	.768
I have access to student data in either hard copy files or information system	.737
Data on my current students are available from various offices in my school at the	.709
beginning of each school year (within 3 weeks)	.709
When students starts in the middle of the school year, their data becomes quickly	.682
available from various offices in my school	.002

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis.

a. 1 components extracted.

Component	Matrix ^a forusability of data
-----------	--

	Component
	1
With the data I have on my students I can determine the academic growth of my students	.877
from year to year	.077
The student data I have access to, help me plan my lessons	.815
I have data on the progress of my students	.766
I have too little data on my students	.428

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis.

a. 1 components extracted.

Component Matrix^a for quality of data

	Component
	1
The student data I have are accurate because they are similar despite the different	.864
sources school	.004
The data I have on my students are up-to-date	.864

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis.

Data user characteristics

	Component
	1
I am able to use data to diagnose student learning needs	.808
I am able to adjust my teaching based on data	.775
I understand the quality criteria and concepts for data use (for example, correlation,	.765
validity, reliability)	.705
know how to interpret data and reports I receive (exam results, student achievement	
results of previous years) according to the quality criteria (correlation, validity, reliability	.753
etc)	
I can comfortably interpret data that are presented in graphs	.542

Component Matrix^a for data literacy

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis.

a. 1 components extracted.

Component Matrix^a for attitude

	Component
	1
Data are important in changing my teaching	.881
It is important to use data in determining individual student needs	.870
Students benefit when teaching is based on data, e.g. teaching techniques, contents, etc.	.836

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis.

a. 1 components extracted.

School organizational characteristics

Component Matrix^a for leadership

	Component
	1
My school principal is a good example of an effective data user	.835
My head of department discusses data with me	.805
Our school principal and heads of departments discuss the results of their data analyses in	.799
the school	.755
My school principal encourages data use as a tool to support effective teaching	.758
My school principal creates many opportunities (e.g. time) for the teachers and other staff	.746
to use data (e.g. Analyzing data for planning improvement actions)	.740
My school is aware that we need to keep developing the skills of teachers to analyze data	.692

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis.

Component Matrix^a for collaboration

	Component
	1
I share and discuss my student's results with parents	.849
I share and discuss the results of my students with students	.814
I share and discuss the results of my students with other teachers	.676

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis.

a. 1 components extracted.

Component Matrix^a for vision and norms

	Component
	1
Teachers in my school share a common understanding of what student learning is	.838
Teachers in my school share a common understanding about what good teaching is	.821
Teachers in my school share a common understanding about effective ways to evaluate	.811
student learning	.011
Data use is a priority in my school (i.e. almost every decision depends on data)	.714
In my school we use a structured method to analyze and interpret data before any action	.677

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis.

a. 1 components extracted.

Component Matrix ^a for support	
	Component
	1
There is someone within the school whom I can contact for help about using data	.887
There is someone within the school who helps me change my practice (e.g. teaching)	.873
based on data	.073
I am adequately supported by school in the effective use of data	.836
There is specific time set aside by the school for me to use data	.705

Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis.

Appendix D: Results of Reliability Analysis

Scale	Number of items	Coefficient of Cronbach alpha
Accessibility of data	5	.786
Usability of data	4	.700
Quality of data	2	.661
Knowledge and skills (e.g. data literacy)	5	.776
Attitude	3	.828
Leadership	6	.865
Collaboration	3	.674
Vision	3	.849
Norms for data use	2	.703
Support	4	.844
Data use for accountability	3	.805
Data use for school development	9	.869
Data use for instructional improvement	11	.860

Appendix F: Interview coding

Purpose of data use

Variables	School 1			Scho	ool 2	2	Scho	ool 5	5	School 8		
1. Accountability	PD	Т	Р	PD	Т	Р	PD	Т	Р	PD	Т	Р
1.1.Evaluation of teacher performance			+	+		+	+		+			+
1.2. Monitoring progress in goal achievement	+	+	+				+	+	+	+	+	+
1.3. Motivating students and staffs	+		+									
1.4.Communicating (or reporting) to parents	+		+	+	+	+			+	+		+
and local education office												
2. School development												
2.1.Policy development and planning (identify			+			+			+			+
areas of need and target resources, identify												
strengths and weaknesses)												
2.2. Shape professional development	+		+									
2.3. Setting priorities, goals and targets	+	+	+			+		+	+	+		
2.4. Supporting conversation with parents,	+	+		+	+		+		+	+	+	+
teachers and administrators; as well as												
reflecting on own teaching practice												
3. Instruction												
3.1.Monitoring student progress	+	+	+	+	+			+			+	+
3.2. Instructional changes (e.g. differentiation,	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+		+	
peer-assisted instruction)												
3.3.Feedback to encourage students self-	+		+									
directed learning												

Note: PD= professional development facilitators; T=teachers; and P= principals; and (+) = aspects of data use mentioned by respondents.

Factors	School 1			School 2			School 5			School 8		
	PD	Т	Р	PD	Т	Р	PD	Т	Р	PD	Т	Р
Training & experience (knowledge and	+	+	-/+		-	+	+			+	+	
skills)												
Attitude and awareness	+		+	-		I	I		I	-		-
Culture of data use (norms and values)	+		+/-			I	I					
Workload and time	+/-	+/-	+/-	-	1	-		-		-	1	-
Resources for data use (e.g. computers)	+		+			+		-		-	1	
Support & data expert	+	+/-	+/-		1	-		-	I		1	
Availability of data	+		+				I					
Accessibility of data	+	+										
Accuracy and quality of data			+							-	I	+

Note: PD = professional development facilitators; T= teachers; and P = principals; and (+) = factors mentioned as facilitating data use; (-) = factors mentioned as hindering data use; () = no mention of any factors; (+/-) = factors mentioned as both, but more of as facilitators for data use; and (-/+) = factors mentioned as both, but more of hindering for data use.